

Good Food and Farming Ideas for Ontario

Report from Bring Food Home 2017 Network Meetings

Building on Sustain Ontario Network White Papers produced for the Three Years to Prepare Menu 2020, Reviewing and Renewing Ten Good Food Ideas for Ontario Project





Contents

Introduction	4
Bring Food Home 2017	4
Description of Sustain Ontario's Networks	5
Common Ground	6
Food Justice	6
Sustainable Food in Institutions and Schools	6
Farmland Preservation	6
Support for New and Young Farmers	7
Network Building	7
Sustainable Food Enterprise Network	8
Sustainable Institutional Food Procurement: Challenges and Opportunities for Public Institutions	8
Policy Discussion at Bring Food Home – Description of Session	8
Summary of Policy Paper	8
Sustain Ontario Recognizes that	10
Policy Goals for Network and Sustain Ontario	10
Overlap with Other Sustain Ontario Network Priorities	11
Innovative Financing for Sustainable Food Systems	12
Summary of Policy Paper	12
Policy Goals for Network and Sustain Ontario	14
Overlap with Other Sustain Ontario Network Priorities	14
Community Growing Network	15
Strategies for Leveraging Community Resources	15
Policy Discussions at Bring Food Home – Description of Session	15
Summary of Policy Paper	15
Suggested Goals for Network and Sustain Ontario	18
Overlap with Other Sustain Ontario Network Priorities	18
Engaging Diverse Communities Through Community Gardening	20
Policy Discussions at Bring Food Home – Description of Session	20
Summary of Policy Paper	20
Network Focus for 2018	22
Overlap with Other Sustain Ontario Network Priorities	23

Farming and Farmland Network	24
Farmland Preservation	24
Policy Discussion at Bring Food Home – Description of Session	24
Summary of Policy Paper	24
Sustain Ontario Recognizes that	27
Policy Goals for Network and Sustain Ontario	29
Overlap with Other Sustain Ontario Network Priorities	30
New and Young Farmers	31
Policy Discussion at Bring Food Home – Description of Session	31
Summary of Policy Paper	31
Sustain Ontario Recognizes that	34
Policy Goals for Network and Sustain Ontario	34
Overlap with Other Sustain Ontario Network Priorities	35
Municipal Food Policy Network	36
Food Policy Councils: Governance, Success, Challenges	36
Policy Discussions at Bring Food Home – Description of Sessions	36
Summary of Policy Paper	36
Suggested Goals for Network and Sustain Ontario	40
Network Focus for 2018	40
Overlap with Other Sustain Ontario Network Priorities	41
Edible Education Network	42
Enhancing Local/Regional Collaboration to Support Good Food for Children and Youth	42
Policy Discussion at Bring Food Home – Description of Session	42
Summary of Policy Paper	42
Key Strategies to Develop and Strengthen Networks	46
Overlap with Other Networks	47
From Evaluation to Advocacy: Making the Case for Good Food Programs for Children and Youth	48
Policy Discussion at Bring Food Home – Description of Session	48
Summary of Policy Paper	48
Suggested Goals for Network and Sustain Ontario	50
Overlap with Other Networks	51
Working with School Boards to Advance Good Food in Schools	52

Policy Discussion at Bring Food Home – Description of Session	52
Summary of Policy Paper	52
Suggested Goals for Network and Sustain Ontario	53
Overlap with Other Networks	54
Food Justice Network	55
Building Understanding and Awareness About Systemic Inequities in our Food System	55
Policy Discussion at Bring Food Home – Description of Session	55
Summary of Policy Paper	55
Food Justice Work	56
Goals for Sustain Ontario	57
Policy Goals for Network and Sustain Ontario	58
Overlap with Other Sustain Ontario Network Priorities	58
Works Cited	59
Sustainable Food Enterprise Network	59
Community Growing Network	61
Farming and Farmland Network	65
Municipal Food Policy Research Network	67
Edible Education Network	69
Food Justice Network	69

Introduction

This report seeks to summarize the policy papers prepared by each of Sustain Ontario's networks in advance of the Bring Food Home 2017 conference. The report also includes inputs from the discussion of these papers at conference and subsequent network meetings. This report is intended to update all Sustain Ontario members about the work currently being undertaken to encourage collective action. This is in an effort further Sustain Ontario's mission to promote a more productive, equitable and sustainable food and farming systems that support the health and wellbeing of all people in Ontario through collaborative action. The Common Ground section of this report highlights areas of overlap and potential for working across networks.

The complete policy papers can be accessed online at either the Bring Food Home website, http://bringfoodhome.com/bfh-papers/ or on Sustain Ontario's websites through each network page, https://sustainontario.com/our-work/networks-working-groups.

Bring Food Home 2017

Bring Food Home (BFH) was the 5th province wide cross-sectoral conference for food system planning in Ontario. BFH was held in Ottawa on October 27-29th 2017. This year the conference was held in collaboration with the Eastern Ontario Local Food conference and local hosts Just Food. Bring Food Home conferences offer a forum to share experience and expertise, build the capacity and cohesiveness of Ontario's local food network, and plan and coordinate actions that will direct us in building a better food system in Ontario and beyond.

The theme for the 2017 BFH conference was Upstream Collaboration. Upstream Collaboration acknowledge the work and innovation being done in local food systems in Ontario. This theme recognizes our collective need to bring together diverse sectors to generate action on food and farm issues, as well as the need to ask and answer tough questions about these issues. Participants sought to collaborate as an Ontario community to work on issues and grow stronger together through breaking down barriers and forging new alliances.

Description of Sustain Ontario's Networks

Sustainable Food Enterprise

Brings together people working to strengthen each level of the value chain to bring local sustainable food products to Ontario's tables. The network will to tackle barriers to viability and success, and explore innovative approaches, in the local food sector.

Community Growing

An Ontario-wide network bringing together a variety of community gardens, urban agriculture projects, and organizations. The network comes together to share resources, discuss new ideas and strategize for the future of growing in Ontario

Farming and Farmland

Agricultural organizations and other allies coming together to share ideas and knowledge, re-imagine the future, advocate for policy change and other sustainable solutions that support Ontario's farmland, farmers, and food production.

Municipal Food Policy

Brings together planners, community organizers, public health professionals, food producers, distributors and other food champions to share ideas and knowledge in order to develop and influence policies at the municipal or regional level. We pool resources and experiences to distill best practices and develop solutions to include food in municipal policy decisions.

Edible Education

Across Ontario people are doing great work to connect children and youth with good food. This network (previously known as the Children and Youth Food Network) has been established to bring these groups together to make it easier for people across Ontario to get children and youth eating, growing, cooking, celebrating, and learning about healthy, local and sustainably produced food.

Food Justice

Organizations working together in solidarity for food justice within the province of Ontario.

Common Ground

This section outlines some areas of overlap between Sustain Ontario's networks. This are presented as opportunities for the membership of Sustain Ontario to come together and support work being done across networks.

Food Justice

It has been suggested that a Food Justice lens can be applied to work being done across all of Sustain Ontario's other networks. While the Food Justice Network is committed to meeting with the other networks to determine what that would mean for their work, their policy paper, "Building Understanding and Awareness About Systemic Inequities in our Food System", is an excellent starting point for thinking through a Food Justice lens.

More specifically there is overlap between the work being done by the Community Growing Network in their paper "Engaging Diverse Communities Through Community Gardening" which considers ways that community gardens can facilitate inclusive spaces for marginalized groups. Additionally, the Sustainable Food Enterprise Network supports the development of stronger food systems in Ontario which in turn supports the Food Justice Network's goal of increasing access to affordable and healthy food for all people in Ontario.

Sustainable Food in Institutions and Schools

The Sustainable Food Enterprise Network, Edible Education Network and Community Growing Network all support goals of increasing access to sustainable food in institutions and schools. The Sustainable Food Enterprise Network's paper "Sustainable Institutional Food Procurement: Challenges and Opportunities for Public Institutions" looks at ways to encourage procurement practices that support local, sustainable and healthy food growers and producers. The Edible Education Network is committed to getting good food into schools both through procurement and school gardens. Their paper "Working with School Boards to Advance Good Food in Schools" could be a valuable resource to enable better procurement practices in Ontario schools. This work could also be used by the Community Growing Network as it works to establish urban gardens on school's property.

Farmland Preservation

The Farming and Farmland Network's goal of "Farmland Preservation" could be supported through the work being done by many of Sustain Ontario's networks. The Sustainable Food Enterprise Network recognizes that need for strong supply networks, and many of these networks require access to farmland. Some of the potential policy recommendations that are discussed in this paper would be implemented at the municipal level and the Municipal Food Policy Network could to support their adoption into policy through their work. The goal of farmland preservation has been expanded to encompass urban lands where food is grown which would support the Community Growing Network, particularly in their work to deconstruct the rural-urban divide. Work around farmland preservation also needs to consider the implications of Canada's colonial history and land which is unceded and unsurrendered or subject to Canada's treaty relationships with First Nations, and this could be informed by the Food Justice Network.

Support for New and Young Farmers

The Farming and Farmland Network has identified a need to support "New and Young Farmers" which is very closely related to the work being done by the Sustainable Food Enterprise Network to secure "Innovative Financing for Sustainable Food Systems". The Food Justice Network also recognizes the need to support marginalized and immigrant food workers, growers and suppliers. Further, the Community Growing Network has the potential to create new entrants into agriculture who would use these supports, as well as facilitate some learning opportunities.

Network Building

The Edible Education Networks paper "Enhancing Local/Regional Collaboration to Support Good Food for Children and Youth" focuses on network building and is a valuable resource both for the other Sustain Ontario networks and membership organizations. The work presented there could be helpful as the networks strive to identify their purpose and goals, as well as determining how they will function.

Sustainable Food Enterprise Network

This network brings together people working to strengthen each level of the value chain to bring local sustainable food products to Ontario's tables. The network will tackle barriers to viability and success, and explore innovative approaches, in the local food sector.

Sustainable Institutional Food Procurement: Challenges and Opportunities for Public Institutions

Policy Discussion at Bring Food Home – Description of Session

Public sector procurement has widely been discussed as a strong mechanism for facilitating food system transformation. Around the world as well as locally here in Ontario, there has been a strong movement to purchase local and sustainable food products to serve in primary and secondary schools, universities, hospitals and municipal organizations. This movement, however, has largely been a collection of solo efforts each guided by their own criteria for procuring both sustainable products and/or procuring these products in sustainable method. As such, this session will start with a board discussion deconstructing what sustainable food and sustainable food procurement means. From there we will explore what the challenges and possible solutions to these challenges for institutions today and end with the discussion of some promising models for supporting sustainable food procurement in Ontario institutions.

Summary of Policy Paper

The Sustainable Food Enterprise Network identified sustainable food procurement as an important issue within their network. Procurement is generally defined as the purchasing of goods and services, normally obtained at the lowest possible cost in consideration with other qualifiers such as quality of the product. When considering what sustainability means in terms of procurement, the government of Nova Scotia defined sustainable procurement as "an approach to purchasing that considers the environmental, societal and economic impacts associated with the life cycle of the goods and services being purchased."

Sustainable procurement is also commonly characterized by an element of 'local' procurement. Although there is not an unanimous definition of local, many local food procurement policies in Ontario use the definition outlined by Foodland Ontario, which is based on Ontario's provincial border, as a baseline. Sustain Ontario recognizes a tiered approach to local, whereby food should first be sources regionally, then if impossible to obtain regionally from elsewhere in Ontario.

Two case studies were analyzed to develop recommendations for a way forward for Ontario. The first is a private certification system utilized in universities in the United Kingdom (UK), and the second is an example of public procurement efforts in transforming primary and secondary school meal programs in Italy.

A) The "Food For Life" Catering Mark and Program

Food For Life, is a UK based private certification system led by national charities with public support. It awards bronze, silver and gold marks to university catering systems. This is coupled with a Catering Mark

Supplier Scheme, with over 170 members, which connects suppliers that meet the Catering Mark standards with the universities. The Catering Mark represents a deliberate attempt to shift responsibility for sustainability in the food system away from individual consumers and towards the public realm. One important limitation to note is that the Catering Mark is menu-based, with a focus on health and culture and does not address issues such as waste, energy or wages.

Simplifying the plethora of certifications in the market, the Catering Mark is an overarching third-party sustainability certification. Evaluation of university catering systems includes four sets of criteria:

- 1. Food leadership
- 2. Food quality and provenance
- 3. Food education
- 4. Food culture and community involvement

To achieve silver and gold marks, caterers need to achieve points for food served in three additional categories (1) Ethical and Environmentally-Friendly Food; (2) Making Healthy Eating Easy; and (3) Championing Local Producers. The sustainability criteria on which certification levels are awarded is outlined in the full policy paper that was presented at the conference.

This is combined with the Catering Mark Supplier Scheme that is aimed at making it easier for university cateriers to access food that meets Catering Mark standards by identifying suitable suppliers. One of the advantages of the Catering Mark is that it sets best practice standards while encouraging the private market to provide access to these certified products.

B) Italian Elementary School Meal Procurement

The Italian school food procurement system is controlled by sustainable food procurement regulations. The regulation reads "To guarantee the promotion of organic agricultural production of quality food products, public institutions that operate school and hospital canteens will provide in the daily diet the use of organic, typical and traditional products as well as those from denominated areas, taking into account the guidelines and other recommendations of the National Institute of Nutrition".

The regulation quoted above comes from the Measures to Facilitate the Development of Employment and the Economy and represents a multifunctional view of school procurement which supports both regional employment and sustainable food systems. Further, the regulations put on emphasis on organic, typical and traditional products. The regulation calls for culturally traditional foods, rather than local because European Union countries are forbidden from awarding contracts based on the geography of the bidder.

This system and others in Europe benefited from regular open table discussion between networks of policy makers, experts, public institutions, producers and suppliers. These networks were found to foster the process of socialization and knowledge exchange via positive competition between network members that increase pressure on members to achieve higher policy success. The regular meetings provided motivation to achieve what was done elsewhere, as well as positive feedback for participants

own successes. This opened opportunities for positive comparison and revealed gaps as well as innovative solutions on how to replicate other cities' successes.

C) Universities in Canada

Through discussion at Bring Food Home, it was shared the University of Toronto has successfully switched towards sustainable food procurement. Although it is recognized that food costs for the institution have increased, the increased quality of product has also led to an increase in sales.

In Canada, the University of British Colombia, Trent University, the University of Guelph, and Carleton University were also identified as having made commitments towards more sustainable procurement.

Sustain Ontario Recognizes that...

Public sector procurement has widely been discussed as a strong tool for supporting the transition to more sustainable local food system and it is understood that it can harness the collective purchasing power necessary to achieve scale, thereby facilitating movement toward food system transformation.

Municipal level organization and policy adoption is proven to be critical in supporting the development as well as the effective implementation of sustainable food procurement regulations (SFPRs).

The Broader Public Sector (BPS) Procurement Directive does not apply to broader public-sector institutions that are owned and administered by municipalities, but municipal governments can be influential in sustainable food procurement through structural practices and governance mechanisms to support relevant groups.

While the Discriminatory Business Practice Act prevents discriminatory procurement, practices based on place of origin or geographical location of the bidder, institutions can ask for bidders to specify the place of origin of the product. In this circumstance, a local, provincial, national or international company may bid so long as they are able to provide local foods.

The Local Food Act is under review in 2018.

Sustainable procurement requires a strong supply of products which can meet the large demand required by institutions. This includes a need an infrastructure and resources such as storage, mechanization, labour and farmland.

Policy Goals for Network and Sustain Ontario

The Sustainable Food Enterprise Network will seek to create an inventory of existing knowledge and policy around Sustainable Institutional Procurement, then identify gaps within that information, and put plans together to address any gaps found. The Network will then provide guidance and support for the development of good policy which will support the development of sustainable food businesses.

The following have been identified as ideas to be pursued through Network discussions:

- Support the work being done by the Organic Council of Ontario towards improved/streamlined organics labeling to ease sustainable procurement. The support could come in the form of providing a consumer voice to the discussion.
- Seek input from others researching and working in sustainable food procurement such as Nourish, Meal Exchange – Real Food Challenge, Local Food Plus and Ontario Student Nutrition Services to consolidate knowledge and identify gaps.
- Continue building best practices for institutional procurement from knowledge of how this is being done in hospitals, universities and schools.
- Look at past examples of frameworks for RFPs that favour local/sustainable for lessons to build upon.
- Ensure existing legislation, such as the Canada Food Guide, does not create unnecessary restrictions as to which products can be supplied to institutions due to inflexible interpretation and implementation.

Overlap with Other Sustain Ontario Network Priorities

The Sustainable Food Enterprise Network recognizes the need for strong supply networks which supports both of the Farming and Farmland Network's priorities of farmland preservation and support for new and young farmers.

In line with the Edible Education Network's goal for increasing good food in schools, the Sustainable Food Enterprise Network supports getting more healthy and local food into public institutions.

The Sustainable Food Enterprise Network support the development of stronger food systems in Ontario. This supports the Food Justice Network's goal of increasing access to affordable and healthy food for all people in Ontario.

Innovative Financing for Sustainable Food Systems Summary of Policy Paper

Objective

Small farmers and social entrepreneurs in Ontario find it difficult to access capital, limiting the possibility for building sustainable and resilient food ecosystems. This situation is not unique. Rather, it reflects a global trend in bank lending practices where traditional risk assessment dictates that an agrifood conglomerate is more likely to receive a loan than a smaller, innovative (and arguably more sustainable) company. However, the growing recognition of the unsustainability of industrial agriculture as well as declining rural communities and farm incomes have highlighted the need to innovate financing options for small, sustainable food enterprises.

In recent years initiatives have emerged as a response to the lack of financing for farmers and small food enterprises, which is promising. However, the landscape for innovative financing options lacks coherence. This document intends to address this situation by identifying and discussing the various financial avenues available to entrepreneurs across the province of Ontario who are focused on producing social and environmental as well as economic benefits. Examples from other Canadian provinces and the United States are also included as potential mechanisms to explore in Ontario. This is not an exhaustive list, but a starting point for discussions.

Context

Despite the multiple social, economic and environmental benefits generated by farming, the sector lacks access to capital. Typically, sustainable agriculture enterprises are expected to carry all of the risk, deal with regulatory challenges, and the costs involved in sustainable agriculture, compromising their competitive viability. While governments and the non-profit sector have and will continue to play an important role in fostering sustainable agriculture, more lasting and widespread impact requires the involvement of for-profit investors. According to Pons and Long, "A robust financial infrastructure will ultimately attract an increasing number of diverse investors, encouraging individuals, institutions, foundations, traditional banks, and other financiers to allocate more capital to the emerging [farming] industry" (2012).

In addition to the unfamiliarity of larger lenders with the business of farming, there are certain characteristics about the food system that make it a potentially challenging investment. As Young states, "Venture capital is difficult to place in the food system. Equity investors typically require scalability and the potential of significant returns to balance the risk and their large upfront investments. They may be looking for anywhere from 20% to 100% return on investment, which is why venture capitalists generally focus on web, technology or resource extraction sectors (2015)." However, Pons and Long propose that the inherent diversity of the food and agriculture sector means that it can appeal to a range of interests and risk appetites (2012). There are opportunities for the type of investment proposed by Woody Tasch of Slow Money - financial vehicles that "bring money back down to earth" and allow poeple to "invest as if food, farms and fertility matter" (Young, 2015). These opportunities are explored below.

An important concern in Ontario relates to the availability and price of farmland, which is discussed more fully in the Farming and Farmland Network papers with regards to farmland preservation and supports for new and young farmers.

Financing Options

See the full research paper for 40+ financing options and a discussion of them, available at https://sustainontario.com/sustainable-food-enterprise-network. This list covers loans, grants, programs, equity financing and crowdfunding that small farmers and food enterprises might pursue in their search for financial support. The list includes options in Ontario, as well as examples in Canada and the world.

Case Study: FarmWorks, Nova Scotia

Information was gathered through a phone interview on July 24th, 2017 with Linda Best, founding member of FarmWorks as well as through the Good Food Network online recording "Pollinating Food Enterprises."

Linda Best and a group of friends realized that the province of Nova Scotia required innovative socioeconomic strategies to tackle the issues of declining farm populations and farm and food sector employment. Their vision was to provide strategic and responsible community investment opportunity in food production and distribution in order to increase access to a sustainable, local food supply for all Nova Scotians. So after meeting in 2010, Farmworks was incorporated in 2011.

Farmworks is plugged into the Nova Scotian community economic development investment fund (CEDIF) program which was legislated in 1998. To counter the large flow of money moving out of the province, the CEDIF matches local investors with local businesses. Money is raised for CEDIF through public offers. The sale of shares forms a pool of capital available to profit-oriented local businesses. Improving access to capital allows businesses to start or stay in communities. The enterprises cannot be charitable, non-taxable or non-profit. The CEDIF is strictly regulated by the Department of Finance.

To date, approximately 64 million dollars have been invested by over 8,300 Nova Scotians in the CEDIF program. In this model, program shareholders invest for 5 years for a 35% tax credit, reinvest at 5 years for an additional 20% tax credit, reinvest at 10 years for yet another 10% tax credit. Investments are eligible for RRSP tax deferral. Credits can be carried forward 7 years, back 3 years. In Linda's view, CEDIF's are an effective way to leverage local capital to help rebuild a sustainable farm and food economy. CEDIFs have a 90% success rate which is much higher than a typical small or medium enterprise survival rate.

Farmworks is completely volunteer run and is comprised of 14 directors and 25 advisors. Farmworks' first offer was in 2012 for \$250,000. Now there are 42 businesses with a total investment value of \$996,000. The minimum share price is \$100, giving many people a chance to invest. Farmworks lends to qualified food-related businesses that are chosen to balance risk and achieve strategic goals. Loans range from \$5,000-\$25,000 and they are unsecured. The payback period runs from 2 to 5 years.

Farmworks also provides mentoring to these businesses and works with other agencies and governments to help increase the awareness of food production in Nova Scotia.

Characteristics of loans:

- No application fee
- Specific criteria must be met Farmworks spends a lot of time on due diligence
- Current interest rate 6% (2% for admin, 2% for any losses we may incur, 2% for dividends)
- Consultations as appropriate (before, during and after)
- Annual financial statements
- Early repayment without penalty

Investees are evaluated and receive a score based on the following criteria:

Comprehensive evaluation considers: character (1-20), commitment (1-20), management (1-20), business plan – markets (1-20), business plan – materials/methods (1-20), business plan – financials (1-20), visibility (1-60). Total 1-200. Less than 130 do not proceed, 130-160 reapply, greater than 160 proceed.

One of the main challenges for Farmworks relates to communication. These include: raising awareness of the benefits of local investing; gaining credibility with high net worth investors; dealing with retirement fund investments; selling through registered dealers; and raising awareness of the benefits of CEDIFs across Canada. Hosting Gentle Dragons sessions has been a useful communication and awareness raising tool. Based on the concept of the CBC's Dragons' Den, existing and potential clients present what they have and are hoping to achieve in an effort to gain access to funding.

Policy Goals for Network and Sustain Ontario

- Explore the viability of a financing incorporation such as FarmWorks in Ontario.
- Continue to analyze and understand financing options available in Ontario.

Overlap with Other Sustain Ontario Network Priorities

The issue of access to financing for farmland is closely tied with the work being done by the Farming and Farmland Network with regards to supports for new and young farmers.

Community Growing Network

An Ontario-wide network bringing together a variety of community gardens, urban agriculture projects, and organizations. The network comes together to share resources, discuss new ideas and strategize for the future of growing in Ontario.

Strategies for Leveraging Community Resources

Policy Discussions at Bring Food Home – Description of Session

The Growing Communities network has a need to share resources and solutions to common challenges in setting up community gardens. These topics include best practices in establishing community gardens that meet local and regional regulations, respect local partners and build relationships within and between community members. This session will include discussions of successes from other municipalities with the goal of helping other jurisdictions build successful community gardens in their own communities.

Summary of Policy Paper

Community gardens provide more than space to grow food, they also provide community, learning opportunities, a space to learn new skills, promote biodiversity, support food security, promote active living, and revitalize neighbourhoods. However, many communities in Ontario face similar challenges when establishing community gardens in their neighbourhoods. This document contains common challenges and suggestions for how to address these individually and collectively.

The main concerns identified by the Network of included:

- addressing provincial and municipal policies, especially around planning policies, soil contamination concerns, and accessibility needs;
- insurance costs and needs;
- 3) building partnerships;
- opportunities to establish land trusts;

1) Addressing Provincial and Municipal policies

The Smart Growth for Our Community Act includes provisions to protect and promote greenspace by encouraging municipalities to plan for parks and which provide an opportunity for community garden development. This Act also allows for community members to provide more feedback, an opportunity that community gardeners should be ready to take advantage of during city meetings on proposed plans for development in their community.

With respect to soil testing, the Ministry of Environment requires that a site assessment be conducted. However, since most community gardens do not own the land on which they grow, they may not be responsible for this process. With respect to liability insurance purposes and in order to guarantee the safety of gardeners, it is recommended that community gardens conduct a soil test. The City of Toronto Public Health has developed a set of guidelines regarding soil testing for urban gardeners including community gardeners (2017).

Community gardeners should avoid establishing gardens in habitat for species at risk. If there is a concern that the garden may be disrupting habitat, the community garden can contact the Ministry of Natural Resources and Forestry regional and district office nearest them.

Noise and odour regulations are typically limited to occasional consideration to community gardens. Noise bylaws are set by municipalities and limit the volume and timing of running loud equipment such as rototillers. Similarly, municipalities set odour limits based on the Ministry of Environment regulations and complaints from neighbours about the smell of manure, for example would be addressed by municipalities.

The Accessibility for Ontarians with Disabilities Act (AODA) requires that community gardens meet accessibility requirements. The Act recommends that municipalities establish Accessibility Advisory Committees who follow provincially mandated Public Spaces Standards.

In Ontario, all pesticides including herbicides, insecticides, fungicides are prohibited for cosmetic use by the Pesticide Act (2017). Community gardens are not considered exempt because they are not deemed agricultural (ibid). Licensed exterminators can be hired if pest problems become significant, however, a variety of integrated pest management practices and soil management practices should be adopted as the community garden norms in order to reduce the risk of pest problems

Finally, if community gardeners wish to donate their produce, they must comply with the provincial government's Donation of Food Act (1994) which states that individuals and organizations are not liable for damages caused by the consumption of food unless the food was rotten or unfit for human consumption.

2) Insurance Costs and Needs

Navigating the details of insurance policies and the requirements for community gardens can be a burden to volunteers who often run community gardens. However, most municipalities require liability insurance for community gardens. In some jurisdictions, community gardens have negotiated a License of Occupation (LOC) with the municipality which covers the community garden activities under the city's own insurance policy, so long as they comply to the terms of the agreement. This only applies to community gardens located on public land where an LOC has been negotiated, otherwise, community gardens must find their own insurance. For example, a community garden on public land without an LOC would still need to have insurance, as would a community garden on private land. Some private landowners may be willing to extend their liability insurance coverage to the community garden. In addition, community gardens may be asked to sign a 'Hold Harmless' or 'No Harm' clause which would be signed by all participants in the community garden which would absolve the landowner of liability in the case of injury.

The American Community Garden Association (ACGA) provides liability insurance to eligible community gardens throughout the US. They have negotiated collective liability insurance for community gardens that become members of the ACGA and which agree to the terms listed on their website. Similarly, the Farmers' Markets of Ontario also provide this service to members. There is a potential to explore a

collective liability insurance similar to this one in the US that would cover either all community gardens in the country, or province-by-province.

3) Partnerships

Community gardens should consider building partnerships to create new opportunities and success. Collaboration and wider public support can contribute to the long-term achievements towards improving food security, skill development, and increasing biodiversity.

- i) Community gardens and schools
 - Schools are community hubs and can provide both educational and social networking opportunities for garden
- ii) Community gardens and private entities
 - Establishing partnerships with private entities another opportunity to promote gardening to the public. In addition, many businesses are interested in being involved in their communities, in demonstrating corporate social responsibility, and in engaging their employees. Businesses may also be able to provide more than garden space, they may also be able to provide funding and in-kind support through employee volunteerism.
- iii) Community gardens and city property
 - Some municipalities have policies to promote community gardens including policies on how to establish gardens on public lands. Opportunities to develop community gardens exist with libraries and community centres since both of these can use gardens as learning spaces. Many community centres have dieticians who can use gardens as a tool to teach about nutrition, while regular children's programming can also use the garden space for learning and play
- iv) Community gardens and utility companies
 - Utility companies own land that may be suitable for the development of community gardens including along power line corridors.
- v) Community gardens and universities
 - Like community gardens at primary or secondary schools, community gardens at universities can provide important educational purposes.
- vi) Social Housing and New Housing Developments
 - Opportunities to work with housing authorities and developers to establish gardens as part of the design of new housing developments are increasing as the benefits of gardening are being increasingly documented. Residents can enjoy the aesthetics of having a garden even if they themselves do not garden which can contribute resident retention.
- 5) Land trusts
 - Often formed to protect neighbourhoods from the effects of gentrification, land trusts have also been used to provide garden and farm space in urban areas. While land trusts are a relatively new initiative, the potential to promote community gardens and urban agriculture is significant as the community can set their own planning agenda.

This policy paper was developed by the Community Growing Network with the help of researcher Julia Laforge. For the full paper including references to works cited, please go to http://bringfoodhome.com/bfh-papers/.

Suggested Goals for Network and Sustain Ontario

The following are recommendations for where Sustain Ontario and the Community Growing Network would be able to have the most significant impact.

- Developing Supportive Policies: Sustain Ontario is ideally situated to help communities
 advocate for changes to municipal policies that support the development of more
 community gardens. For example, municipalities should be encouraged to develop
 Urban Agriculture Programs that would support a diversity of urban gardening and
 agriculture activities across city departments.
- 2. Collective Liability Insurance: As a province-wide actor, Sustain Ontario is well suited to following the example of the American Community Gardening Association and negotiate a collective insurance plan that covers all community gardens in the province. This could save individual community gardens from the burden of the cost while also sharing the risk involved amongst a larger network. Details such as how many gardens could be involved and what kinds of guidelines community gardens would have to follow in order to be eligible for such coverage would have to be negotiated with the insurance provider.
- 3. Soil testing: Sustain Ontario could also negotiate a suitable rate for soil testing from a reputable company. Since the needs of community gardens are not the same as farmers and others who use these services, by negotiating with a company and recommending that all community gardens use the same company, this could result in better services to community gardens while also ensuring the company is aware of the needs of community gardens and can provide them the services they need. This would also make it more feasible for community gardens to conduct soil testing, which regardless of whether or not it becomes mandatory required by provincial or municipal regulations, would usually still be in the best interests of the community garden.
- 4. **Rural-Urban Divide:** Highlight the common ground among urban and rural populations to deconstruct the rural-urban divide. Identify champions to help break down the divide (conservation authorities, OMAFRA, National Farmer Unions, Farmers Association of Ontario).

Overlap with Other Sustain Ontario Network Priorities

The Community Growing Network recognizes schools as possible locations for urban gardens and this could be supported by the work of the Edible Education Network.

The Farming and Farmland Network in seeking to protect farmlands in Ontario and expanding this goal to encompass urban lands where food is grown which would support the Community Growing Network.

Community Gardens are closely tied to issues addressed by the Food Justice Network both through inclusive community spaces around food and through increasing access to healthy foods.

The Community Growing Network could seek support from Municipal Food Policy Network where they encounter issues with existing government policies, including the rural-urban divide and described above.

Engaging Diverse Communities Through Community Gardening Policy Discussions at Bring Food Home – Description of Session

Urban agriculture movements have the potential to be transformative, providing multiple important benefits to individuals, neighbourhoods, and cities. However, critics have pointed out the complicated, contradictory, and sometimes destructive role they can play in relation to broader structures of injustice, exclusion, and oppression. The research for this network session explores the ways in which community gardens can best meet the needs of a diversity of people in the neighbourhoods in which they are situated. In particular, this research will examine the best practices of several community garden initiatives that engage with and involve – in meaningful ways – members of marginalized and/or vulnerable communities including racialized people, newly arrived immigrant and refugee, people with different abilities, and people who are living in poverty.

Summary of Policy Paper

Community gardening, generally considered part of the non-profit urban agriculture movement, has grown steadily in North American cities and in some rural areas, particularly in the last two decades. While community garden projects have the potential to be transformative, providing multiple important benefits to individuals, neighbourhoods, and cities; critics have pointed out the complicated, contradictory, and sometimes destructive role they can play in relation to broader structures of injustice and oppression.

Nevertheless, community gardens have the potential to bring greater social justice and inclusion to urban neighbourhoods. In this paper, I will explore the ways in which community gardens can best meet the needs of a diversity of people in the neighbourhoods in which they are situated. In particular, I will look at the best practices from four community garden initiatives that meaningfully engage and involve members of marginalized and/or vulnerable communities including racialized people, newly arrived immigrant and refugees, and/or people who are living in poverty.

- Part 1 examines the importance of community gardening in North America.
- Part 2 examines the challenges and barriers experienced by marginalized and/or vulnerable communities in community garden projects.
- Part 3 examines projects that have been successful at integrating vulnerable and/or marginalized communities.
- Part 4 proposes strategies to increase diversity in community garden projects in Ontario.

1) The importance of community gardens

The benefits of community gardens are widespread and diverse including increasing access to fresh fruits and vegetables; providing people with practical gardening skills; promoting a sense of individual wellbeing and health; building community ties and social capital; connecting people to the cycles of the earth; regenerating vacant, neglected, or disturbed urban landscapes; promoting cross-cultural communication; and encouraging people to develop critiques of the global food system.

2) Challenges and barriers to diversity

Community gardens do not always reflect the diversity of the cities or neighbourhoods in which they are situated. Even with the best of intentions, community gardens can be exclusive spaces in which marginalized people do not feel comfortable participating or do not participate in the numbers anticipated by garden coordinators. Community gardens have also been implicated in the process of urban gentrification and dislocation.

Some researchers argue that NGOS or city staff that often manage community gardens adopt an individualist framework that may keep some projects from addressing the deeper structural issues that have led marginalized people to be interested in participating in community gardening. An individualistic approach can particularly be seen in community gardens based on allotment plots instead of collectively cultivated gardens, particularly as it reinforces access based on purchasing power. On the other hand, a collective framework may be subject to problems such as lack of democratic decision-making, interpersonal disputes, and disagreement about structure, design, roles, and resources.

Projects aimed at marginalized people and communities (especially low-income and racialized), are sometimes not led or coordinated by members of the communities in which they operate. Further, grassroots projects in low-income, racialized communities are not always able to access the same funding and resources as projects located in higher income communities. When grassroots projects do succeed in gaining support of larger, established NGOs or city staff; often they do not retain the right to control the direction of their projects, particularly if they don't have top-down, officially-sanctioned programs and initiatives.

Although community gardens are often presented as particularly important for marginalized people living in lower income neighbourhoods, sometimes community garden projects are not located those neighbourhoods, requiring people to travel to their garden plot.

Community gardening can play a complex role in urban gentrification and displacement. In some cities, urban gentrification and dislocation, can be seen as a continuation of colonialism, forcing urban Indigenous people out of neighbourhoods.

It seems very important for anyone creating or facilitating a community garden project to be very deliberate in creating gardens that are accessible, inclusive, and diverse. As researchers in Vancouver found "unless there is intent behind building inclusion, bridging soft and technical barriers, and providing programming around culture, new immigrants, seniors, and those with accessibility challenges are unlikely to participate fully in community gardens".

3) Case studies and best practices

H.O.P.E and Milky Way Garden are located in Parkdale, Toronto and are managed by the non-profit Greenest City. H.O.P.E.'s strength is in the democratic decision making carried out by it's gardeners, and the community building through workshops and potlucks. Milky Way Garden's strength is that it is located on land owned by a community land trust.

Farmers on 57th is in Vancouver and managed by the BC Coalition of People with Disabilities and is located on the grounds of George Pearson Center which is home to 120 people living with disabilities. This garden's strength is in it's therapeutic garden with wheelchair accessible pathways and raised beds, as well as garden tools provided for people with various mobility issues.

La Finca del Sur in the Bronx, NYC was created and is led by a board of directors made up of women of colour. The garden's strength is in its interest not only addressing food insecurity and injustice in their neighbourhood but in linking these issues, through their programming, to global inequality and systemic systems of oppression.

4) Strategies to increase diversity in community garden projects in Ontario.

- Meaningful consultation outreach to grassroots organizations from a diversity of communities; involvement in planning of organization and individuals in a democratic and participatory way; community mapping to determine location of garden that is easily accessible;
- Accessible information and communication multi-lingual and in multiple formats materials, signage and meetings
- Accessible, welcoming garden design designed with differentlyiabled people, seniors and other with mobility issues in mind; cognisant of legislated accessibility requirements
- 4. Inclusive and engaging programming workshops, speakers and field trips; culturally appropriate; relevant for wider community as well as gardeners;
- 5. Community empowerment beyond gardening experience practice and learn democracy; address wider social issues within the community; outdoor community center
- 6. Encouraging attachment to place need relatively permanent location; also consistent plot allocation;

This policy paper was developed by the Community Growing Network with the help of researcher Rebecca Ellis. For the full paper including references to works cited, please go to http://bringfoodhome.com/bfh-papers.

Network Focus for 2018

- Take leadership on streamlining the interpretations of Accessibility for Ontarians with Disabilities Act (AODA 2016) requirements in different districts when working on municipal lands, and the contrast with private lands to make the standards easier for community gardens to adhere to.
- Seek ways to secure provincial funding for community gardens.
- Encouraging partnerships between different levels of government and institutions to give communities secure access to land.
- Develop programs to assist in development of community land trusts.
- Build meaningful relationships with others. This could be done through going to other communities and events, supporting their work,

Overlap with Other Sustain Ontario Network Priorities

Community Gardens are closely tied to issues addressed by the Food Justice Network both through inclusive community spaces around food and through increasing access to healthy foods.

The Community Growing Network could seek support from Municipal Food Policy Network where they encounter issues with existing government policies.

While the Farming and Farmland Network is seeking to increase supports for new and young farmers in Ontario, the Community Growing Network has the potential to create new entrants into agriculture who would use these supports.

Farming and Farmland Network

Agricultural organizations and other allies coming together to share ideas and knowledge, re-imagine the future, advocate for policy change and other sustainable solutions that support Ontario's farmland, farmers, and food production. Developing recommendations to protect agricultural land and support a viable agricultural system.

Farmland Preservation

Policy Discussion at Bring Food Home – Description of Session

The population of Ontario continues to accelerate, which has placed significant development and land use conversion pressures on our limited amount of prime agriculture land. Ontario has instituted several policies, policy statements, and growth strategies in the past two decades making it more challenging to convert farmland use. However, these initiatives remain limited to a patchwork of regional plans or subject to municipal cooperation and interpretation. Furthermore, existing policy does little to regulate the growing phenomena of financial investors purchasing farmland to profit off its increase in value rendering it inaccessible for farmers to own. This workshop seeks to develop a set of policy positions aimed at strengthening Ontario's capacity to preserve farmland for agricultural use, and limit investment, development, and conversion pressures that may result in its degradation.

Summary of Policy Paper

This policy paper was written to survey the evidence and policy options to inform advocacy to keep Ontario farmland in agricultural production.

A) Evidence of Farmland Loss

Ontario has been facing a steady decline in its agricultural land base since the early 1970s. The total amount of land on farms in Ontario has decreased by 11.5% from 1986 to 2016. The amount of land actively in use for crops and pasture has decreased by 8.9% over the same period (over a million acres). Only 5% of the national agricultural land base is considered prime agricultural land (classes 1-3). This trend is especially problematic in Ontario, where 51% of Canada's prime agricultural land is located. Despite this abundance, Ontario only uses about 7% of its best quality (class 1) farmland, with the remainder increasingly being converted to urban development. In total, Ontario saw a 7.2% reduction in the available farmland between 2006 and 2016, which is a yearly rate of loss equal to a quarter the size of Toronto. Ontario is also seeing a decline in farmland accessibility, where socioeconomic pressures of agricultural production (i.e. farm debt, input costs, commodity prices, and farmland values) are increasingly rendering farmland inaccessible to farmers. The challenge of keeping farmland in agricultural production requires addressing both the protection of farmland from conversion as well as ensuring that farming on such land remains viable.

B) Drivers of Farmland loss

Urban expansion

- Increasing rates of population growth in urban centers have resulted in the expansion of housing development at the peripheries of cities, which is where most of Ontario's prime agricultural land is located
- 2. Decreased Farm viability/ accessibility
 - Farmers are increasingly faced by mounting debt, input and equipment costs, market uncertainty, and property values. These factors make the already diminishing supply of farmland inaccessible to farmers
- 3. Land consolidation and severance
 - The consolidation of farmland is when an individual or business purchases a number of agricultural properties to combine into one larger property. Often what follows are severances—when the owner of a farm property has their land broken up into smaller properties, often done to remove surplus housing from the property
- 4. Financialization
 - This is where the inputs into the production and distribution of food increasingly become owned by financial entities investing for the purposes of speculative profits
- 5. Regressive public expropriation
 - The Federal Government and the Province of Ontario both have powers to compel owners to sell their farmland for purposes deemed to be in the public interest

C) Regional Difference

The loss of farmland in Ontario is experienced differently in different regions. Its governance also varies based on differing ecological/climatic/geological, socioeconomic, and political contexts in which farmland is located.

- Geography
 - Measures for farmland preservation needs to take into consideration the diversity of climates, soil-types, pest and wildlife pressures, and water and precipitation in determining the types of agricultural practices and land use designation
- 2. Socioeconomic
 - Socioeconomic regional differences in Ontario—as they relate to agriculture—have been categorized by Troughton into three geographic zones: the exurban fringe surrounding cities, the hinterland which constitutes Ontario's traditional rural-agricultural territory, and the periphery expanding into remote unincorporated areas. A category for the recently increasing amount of urban agriculture should also be noted.
- 3. Jurisdictional
 - Categories of land use governance are then determined by the legal jurisdiction of Canada's various levels of government.
 - privately-owned, and located within an incorporated municipality
 - Provincial Crown Lands
 - Federal Crown Lands
 - unceded and unsurrendered or subject to Canada's treaty relationships with First Nations

D) Existing Policy Framework

Ontario has historically trailed behind other provinces in terms of implementing measures to preserve farmland. There isn't an explicit imperative to preserve prime agriculture land throughout the province. In fact, to this day, what exists in Ontario is a patchwork of policies governing land use, relying on municipal initiatives and interpretations in the implementation provincially-directed priorities. These policies are outlined below:

- Ontario adopted a Foodland Guidelines policy statement in 1978, which was replaced 1997
 by priorities given in Provincial Policy Statements, updated periodically since.
- Farmland preservation in Ontario is governed through the land-use planning process.
 Municipal land use decisions, however, are subject to appeals by an independent provincial tribunal called the Ontario Municipal Board (OMB), which has the power to approve, refuse, or modify decisions in the case of a conflict.
- Ontario has numerous regional land use and growth policies, which are accompanied with implementation plans that inform specific land use priorities in their application.
- The Local Food Act, 2013 also provides some policy support for local food production that impacts land use decision making with recommendations outlined in the Local Food Strategy.
- The Province recently drafted the Places to Grow Plan, 2017 for the Greater Golden
 Horseshoe. Provisions included in the Plan are greater mapping and identification of prime
 agriculture land, stricter criteria for how development on farmland is permitted, and the
 requirement for agricultural impact assessments in the approval of development.
 Consultations have also taken place surrounding the implementation of the proposed Farms
 Forever Program, where the Province has detailed farmland protection as one of its policy
 objectives.
- The Provincial Government has recently tabled Bill 139, Building Better Communities and Conserving Watersheds Act, 2017, which is intended to amend the Planning Act to include significant reforms to the current appeals process. The bill, if passed, would create a Local Planning Appeal Tribunal to replace the OMB, supported by a Local Planning Appeal Support Centre. It would also weaken the board/tribunal's ability to interfere in municipal land use decisions, offering planning suggestions rather than overturning rulings (except in the case of a failed second appeal).
- Farmers in Ontario have ability through the Conservation of Land Act, 2005 to place a
 Conservation Easement on their agricultural property, which is an agreement made
 between property owners and a conservation body or land trust organization. The terms of
 the easement then determine permissible forms of land use, which are tied to the title of
 the property.
- There are also regulations on agricultural practices governed by the Ontario Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs (OMAFRA), such as Minimum Distance of Separation

(MDS) standards, which requires an easement distance for residential areas from agricultural production facilities to prevent land use conflicts. Such policies are effective at preventing conversion around existing agricultural production facilities. However, these regulations have tended to work against farms located close to residential areas when they seek expansion.

This policy paper was developed by the Farming and Farmland Network with the help of researcher Christopher Kelly-Bisson. For the full paper including references to works cited, please go to http://bringfoodhome.com/bfh-papers/.

Sustain Ontario Recognizes that...

There are a broad varieties of possible policy change that can impact farmland preservation that range from minor amendments to major overhauls. Below is a list detailing possible policy options categorized by their correspondence to existing policy. The policy options are listed within the categories in order from least to greatest magnitude of change.

- 1. Stand-Alone Municipal Policy Initiatives
 - a. Promoting greater public awareness for the need to preserve farmland.
 - b. Conduct robust soil mapping studies that take into account a holistic approach to food production, such as the Land Evaluation and Area Review (LEAR) study conducted by the City of Ottawa.
 - c. Formation of Agricultural Advisory Committees in municipalities to consult local farmers on farmland use planning.
 - d. Urban temporary-use permits & interim control bylaws so that arable urban land that is currently not in use can be used for food production.
 - e. Review of urban animal control policies to permit livestock production on urban land.
 - f. Development of urban neighbourhood risk-management policies to more easily facilitate the development of urban agriculture on arable urban lands.
 - g. Conduct community growth and improvement plan consultations, and include farmer organizations and food policy councils, to establish best locations for future development.
 - h. Have municipal staff available to educate and facilitate farm succession, and seek-out potential new farmers to the region.
 - i. Zoning Bylaw (ZBL) and Official Plan (OP) amendment to provide greater protection for farmland from conversion and development, and to reflect modern agriculture practices. Greater definition is needed in ZBLs and OPs regarding "small-scale", "minor", and "farm" in order to avoid challenges for small-scale producers in obtaining approval for their operations.
 - j. Identification and inventory of municipally-owned agricultural land
 - k. Active engagement with NPs and farm organizations to assess opportunities to make municipally-owned farmland available for beginning farm programming and operations.
- 2. Changes to the Planning Act and Growth Plans
 - a. Revise exemptions to categories permitted for severance.

- b. Requiring provincial approval for farmland conversion, rather than just municipalities.
- Adopt an all-of-government approach, and include farmers organization and development consultation, on Agricultural Systems policy.
- d. Greater engagement with civil society and industry groups, and clearer indication of what to expect to be included in the Farms Forever Program.
- e. Establish alternative system of small-scale land tenureship, such as easements, farm incubators, and lease arrangements, to transition new farmers into land ownership.
- f. Include provisions encouraging municipal policy initiatives in the Provincial Policy Statement and Incentivise good municipal practices with financial assistance in planning and awards.
- g. Adoption of a province-wide development plan similar to Places to Grow including funding for development of necessary infrastructure.
- h. Greater policy and financial support for near-urban farmers to ensure their viability, including funding for the rehabilitation of degraded land.
- i. Revise policies on the development of mining for aggregates to exclude aggregate mining and accompanied land uses from being permitted on agricultural land.
- j. Greater fiscal support to municipalities to prevent the economic pressures to encourage development.
- k. Amend Planning Act and include in Provincial Policy Statement the ability for second residences to be built on farmland to accommodate interns and new farmers.
- I. Expansion of Permanent Agricultural Districts (PAD) throughout Ontario: Involves planning controls, farming support, and property tax incentives similar to the Greater Golden Horseshoe Greenbelt. Combination of measures needs to be well-coordinated. Protects entire regions for agricultural production.
- m. Institute local ownership capital controls on farmland: Currently used in Quebec and formerly in Saskatchewan. Places limits on the quantity of farmland that can be owned by individuals or entities located outside of Ontario.
- n. Institute a system of Agricultural Land Reserves (ALR): Currently administered in British Columbia and Quebec. Entails the formation of a public commission or council to govern lands in the reservation with a mandate of promoting agriculture as the primary use.
- 3. Easements, Land Trusts, Succession, & Tax Incentives
 - a. Expansion of urban agriculture tax credits to municipalities throughout Ontario.
 - b. Provide financial support and raise awareness for land trusts & agricultural easements.
 - c. Incentivizse the preservation of farmland for its public provision of ecosystem services.
 - d. Develop program to spread awareness about and facilitate process of farm succession planning.
 - e. Extend the same tax benefits between family members to transfer of farm properties to new farmers.
 - f. Include and recognize the work of civil society organizations in the preservation of farmland.

- g. Develop system of Purchase of Development Rights (PDR): Generally used by municipalities throughout the United States. Entails public compensation to farmland owners for the placement of conservation easements.
- 4. Agricultural Monitoring, Classification, and Standards
 - a. Greater support for the monitoring and analysis of farmland in Ontario. Including studying the impacts of development in proximity to farmland.
 - b. Decouple or nuance assessment of agriculture land from soil quality to account for regions that have a great deal of agriculture taking place on subprime farmland, and farmland that can be rehabilitated.
 - c. Adopt a program that measures soil health / soil organic matter on farms in Ontario every three years, using a robust and consistent methodology. Tie this indicator of soil health directly to financial instruments, such as farmland taxation rates and crop insurance subsidies.
 - d. Revise MDS standards to include different approaches to smaller-scale and alternative mixed-production categories.
 - e. Multiple agricultural land designations should have categories that use firm-scaled setback for small-scale and mixed-use agriculture as an alternative to MDS formula for large-scale livestock production.
 - f. Municipalities could form mixed-use clusters that are exempt from MDS formula.
 - g. Formula could be created to determine minimum farm size appropriate for a series of different categories of agricultural production. Needs to balance the need to keep parcels large enough and in agricultural production in order to prevent development.
- 5. Federal Policy (note, d. Could be provincial)
 - a. Inclusion of the preservation of farmland as a national priority within a National Food Policy, and inclusion of farmland preservation civil society groups and farmer organizations in any food policy councils responsible for its governance.
 - b. Inclusion of farmland preservation as a condition for the availability of funding and access to risk management tools in any future inter-governmental agricultural frameworks.
 - c. Consultation (directed primarily at First Nations in a manner respecting the provision set out in the RCAP and UNDRIP) and accompanying order-in-council for the prioritization of agricultural use of prime agricultural Crown Lands.
 - d. National (or provincial) controls for the ownership of farmland.
 - e. Public expropriation of farmlands under the management of financial investment firms and sovereign wealth funds for the establishment of a national ALR.

Policy Goals for Network and Sustain Ontario

The Farming and Farmland Network will analyze the policy options available and seek to identify specific policy goals to focus on in the future.

Overlap with Other Sustain Ontario Network Priorities

The Sustainable Food Enterprise Network recognizes that need for strong supply networks. This is in support of the Farming and Farmland Network's two priorities of farmland preservation and support for new and young farmers.

The Municipal Food Policy Network has the potential to support the Farming and Farmland Network move some of these potential policy goals forward.

The Community Growing Network's work to secure urban growing space could support efforts to preserve land for food growing in Ontario.

The Food Justice Network could support the Farming and Farmland Network as it seeks to address issues of land which is unceded and unsurrendered or subject to Canada's treaty relationships with First Nations.

New and Young Farmers

Policy Discussion at Bring Food Home – Description of Session

Across the province, the agricultural industry is in a state of flux, as the average age of a farmer steadily increases, farm succession is not guaranteed and the future viability of farming is unknown. For new farmers, significant financial barriers exist related to the cost of equipment, training and farmland. Given the aging farm demographic, the future of farming in Ontario is dependent on a new generation of farmers but these barriers must be addressed and long-term support provided both at the provincial and local level. This session will explore the barriers facing new farmers and provide policy recommendations related to supporting a new generation of farmers and enhancing the long-term viability of the agricultural sector.

Summary of Policy Paper

The full policy paper explores reasons that have led to the decline in farmers in Ontario, as well as barriers to those seeking to enter into farming.

Agricultural entrepreneurship remains the largest source of self-employment in rural/small-town Canada (Statistics Canada, 2015). However, long term out-migration from farms has eroded the population of farmers in Ontario by 30% between 1991 and 2016, and farmers under 35 dropped by a staggering 64% over the same period.

Along with ongoing attrition in the farming population, the total amount of land on farms in Ontario also decreased by 11.5% from 1986 to 2016. The amount of land actively in use for crops and pasture has decreased by 8.9% over the same period (over a million acres). Farmland loss is explored in depth in the Farmland Preservation policy paper.

Increasing awareness of the real challenges for farm viability, the impact of farm loss on rural economies, as well as the growing consumer "eat local" movement, are early indicators that opportunities exist for creative new farm businesses to thrive with the right support. New entrants of all ages have begun to investigate and pursue farming; however, in Ontario, they have been met with a policy vacuum that does not comprehensively address their needs.

There are three significant challenges that impede the success of new and young farmers: access to land, business financing tools, and knowledge or training. Each of these challenges will be discussed and policy recommendations will be made.

1) Access to Farmland

There is no lack of farmland available in Ontario; however, purchasing a farm has become increasingly difficult for new farmers, unless they have access to significant amounts of capital. The price of farmland has been on the rise across the province, especially in recent years, as shown by data from Farm Credit Canada (see policy paper).

Farmland, at current prices in many parts of the province, can no longer be realistically built into the cost of production of farm products. This makes buying a first farm, plus any capital infrastructure

needed to operate a new business, very challenging compared to the capital cost of beginning other entrepreneurial businesses. While new entrants coming to farming as a second career may have savings that enable them to purchase a farm, young people seldom do.

Farmland succession is a way for new and young farmers to access land. It is important to note that the success of the farm industry should not be dependent on intergenerational succession, as new entrants can reinvigorate stagnant industries. For farmers not prepared to fully retire or sell their land, partnership arrangements with young or new farmers can benefit both parties. As such, farm succession plans should consider new entrants and work to establish these relationships when a family successor is not easily identified.

In Canada, with the exception of preparedness, there are no significant benefits for a farmer to transfer ownership early. The government of France has, in the past, recognized the benefits of earlier farm succession and sought to increase earlier rates of succession by providing early retirement incentives. Under the Common Agricultural Policy (CAP), European nations that adopted policies related to early retirement, could provide farmers with a pension for up to ten years, upon the sale of their farm to a farmer under 50 years of age. The goal of this policy was to encourage the transfer of farms to younger generations. Providing a pension to farmers as an incentive measure for farm succession could be implemented in Canada. As a well-defined succession plan influences the future development and success of a farm, policy in support of the early creation of such plans is imperative.

In situations where farmers cannot purchase the land, farmland rental arrangements are often sought and are viewed as a viable land access solution, at least at beginning stages for new entrants and young farmers. Rental arrangements are viewed as mutually beneficial as they provide the property owner with income and the renter with access to farmland. However, in some regions, access to farmland for rental purposes may not be as readily available as in the past. In fact, between 1996 and 2016, the total area of farmland rented decreased by 14% in Ontario

For new and young farmers, farm rentals can provide an opportunity to access land and actively farm; however, in the longer term, almost all farmers want to own the home farm. Moreover, they require long-term access to land when building their businesses. It takes time to become familiar with fields, improve soil, develop infrastructure and processes, and proximity to specific markets may be critical to success. Few farmers want to build a business in one location and then move it to another and start over.

2) Access to Business Financing

For new farm entrants, access to capital, as well as operating loans, can be challenging. It can be difficult to find support to develop a business plan for a new farm enterprise; however, a detailed business plan is essential in helping new and young farmers to critically assess their agricultural enterprise and plan for a viable farm endeavour. A few organizations in Ontario offer business planning support for new entrants, including Everdale, Farms at Work, RAIN and Just Food, while most government-funded programs continue to focus on business planning and assessment for existing farms. Even when a solid business plan is in place, many lenders are unwilling to take the risk of funding

innovative enterprises, preferring to deal with farm businesses that fit into standard models and supplymanaged sectors. This is stifling change in the industry, and eliminating a pool of potential purchasers who would keep farmland in production.

Grant funding programs, while important, have their own drawbacks and cannot substitute for long-term relationships with lenders. Grant funds are generally available to farms for specific projects. For example the Agricultural Framework funding (most recently Growing Forward 2) and funder such as the Greenbelt Fund or the Sustainable New Agri-Food Products and Productivity Program (SNAPP) for northern Ontario, while important, are not consistently available, and only a limited number of projects can be funded each year.

Access to Knowledge and Training

One final challenge facing new and young farmers is knowledge and training. Agriculture tends to be a labour-intensive field that is continually requiring new skills and specialized training to match innovation within the industry. While farm families tend to pass knowledge down through generations, new farm entrants are not exposed to the same mentor relationships. A better understanding of innovative and informal networks of peer-to-peer learning and mentorship that occur outside of formal training environments is necessary and formal mentorship arrangements should be encouraged through policy and facilitated at the local level.

Training programs that provide the transfer of such knowledge from experienced farmers to new and aspiring entrants, is necessary. New entrants seek workshops, conferences, volunteer opportunities, mentorship and informal discussions with other farmers as a means of broadening their knowledge and farm skills. Further, the knowledge new farmers require is not limited to technical skills and includes marketing, financial planning, business planning and management. New farmers have also identified a need for regional-specific training regarding production, business and networks as key to farm viability. Farm organizations that offer such regional services for new farmers include:

- Everdale (GTA): http://everdale.org/farmertraining/
- Farms at Work (East Central Ontario): http://farmsatwork.ca/
- Just Food (Ottawa): http://justfood.ca
- Rural Agri-Innovation Network (Sault Ste Marie, NorthEast Ontario): http://rainalgoma.ca/rainagriculture/

Provincial commodity and production-focused organizations are increasingly interested in how to transfer knowledge to new generations. Other programs, such as CRAFT, encourage farm-level training in concert with on-farm experience.

In Ontario, unpaid farm internships are growing in popularity as an opportunity to gain skills through experiential learning. While the benefits of such arrangements to a new entrant are obvious, they also fill a crucial labour need. For small and medium sized farms, the financial benefits of such unpaid internships are significant and contribute to the resilience of these farms. It is important to note, however, that these agricultural internships, particularly ecological farm internships, tend to be filled by educated, middle class individuals that can better cope with unpaid positions. For other populations,

particularly those that with lower incomes, including New Canadians with agrarian backgrounds, such programs are not readily accessed. The newly formed Agricultural Youth Green Jobs program is promising to support on-farm learning by supporting paid positions.

This policy paper was developed by the Farming and Farmland Network with the help of researcher Sara Epp. For the full paper including references to works cited, please go to http://bringfoodhome.com/bfh-papers/.

Sustain Ontario Recognizes that...

Considering the vast changes occurring throughout the agricultural industry in Canada, the future stability and viability of agriculture is dependent on new and young farm entrants. These farmers face significant challenges associated with land access, capital and training which impede their ability to establish a farm. Policy must be established to encourage early succession planning and innovative farming partnerships that provide new and young farmers access to land. As part of this, assistance is needed in accessing capital to purchase and sustain a farm, as well as receiving the training necessary for successful ownership, operation and management. Through such assistance, new and young farmers will be better situated to establish a viable farm enterprise.

Policy Goals for Network and Sustain Ontario

The numbered recommendations below are taken from the policy paper, while the lettered bullets are additional related recommendations that emerged during the discussion at Bring Food Home.

- 1. Policies should be put in place that recognize the strategic significance of farmland in providing food security and ecosystem services to Ontarians. Ownership and control of Ontario's farmland must remain in the hands of Ontario's farmers, and should be immediately protected from further commodification by investors, as well as ownership or control by foreign interests.
- 2. Retiring farmers and farmland owners should be incentivized to work with new entrants and family members to ease financial access to land and avoid transition under duress.
 - A. Retiring farmers should also be supported provincially in seeking out a suitable farmer to take over their farm.
 - B. Long-term secure tenure for rented farms should be part of the discussion to help encourage land renting as an interim option, however, renting is not the optimal way to access farmland.
- 3. Qualifying new entrants to farming should be provided with financing options that reduce and/or spread over time the cost of acquiring farmland. These could be tied to business success, to ensure that they are directly related to lasting new farm entrepreneurship. Land trusts could facilitate this process.
 - A. How land trust could be used should be informed by the Ontario Farmland Trust they have paper in progress

- B. Land preservation needs a multi-jurisdictional approach, policies at federal and provincial level will empower municipalities. This is considered more completely in the Farmland Preservation policy paper.
- C. Ontario should consider implementing a system like that in Quebec where a commission must approve all farmland purchases to counter financialization of land.
- 4. To drive the incubation and commercialization of new farms in Ontario, a funding program should be developed that assists new farmers with the cost of pursuing farm and business training. This program should also assist existing farmers to accelerate or expand their business through training opportunities.
 - A. There is a need for regulated and government funded apprenticeships, experienced farmers cannot be expected to pay to train new farmers. Training should be on farm and paid.
 - B. Need to recognize the strengths of the current piecemeal farmer training that exists, and that is rooted in communities and reflects what is best for each region. This system should stay, but needs to be supported
 - C. Consider a Red Seal program for farming? This would open opportunities for OSAP funding.
 - D. Farmer training should happen before a farmer decides if they want to go into business and farm for themselves.
 - E. There is a need for ongoing training before and after starting to farm. 0-10 years is still a new farmer and they continue to require supports.
 - F. Should include support for new comers to Canada, including opportunities for migrant workers to become Canadians.
- 6. Develop specific recommendations for regional agricultural economic development.

Overlap with Other Sustain Ontario Network Priorities

There is significant overlap between the need for support for new and young farmers and the efforts to secure financing for farmers being done by the Sustainable Food Enterprise Network. Further the Sustainable Food Enterprise Network recognizes the need for strong supply networks for sustainable procurement and this is in support of the Farming and Farmland Network's two priorities of farmland preservation and support for new and young farmers.

There is overlap between the Food Justice Network with regards to supports their identification of a need for support for marginalized and immigrant farmers, food workers and producers and the Farming and Farmland Network's goals of supports for new and young farmers.

Municipal Food Policy Network

Sustain Ontario's Municipal Food Policy Network brings together planners, community organizers, public health professionals, food producers, distributors and other food champions to share ideas and knowledge in order to develop and influence policies at the municipal or regional level. We pool resources and experiences to distill best practices and develop solutions to include food in municipal policy decisions.

Food Policy Councils: Governance, Success, Challenges Policy Discussions at Bring Food Home – Description of Sessions

Session 1:

This session covers how local food policy councils across the province are governed, outlining the advantages and disadvantages of each model. This session explores whether food policy councils' relationship with government affects their ability to maintain core funding, for example. Attendees will be given the opportunity to learn about the inner workings of various food policy councils and network with food policy council members from across the province.

Session 2:

The 'measuring success' session examines what success means to different food policy councils and aims to help respective food policy councils adopt metrics of success. This session also explores the various challenges facing food policy councils and what this means for food policy council success. Attendees will be given the opportunity to learn about the inner workings of various food policy councils and network with food policy council members from across the province.

Summary of Policy Paper

Food Secure Canada defines a food policy council (FPC) as "a group of stakeholders from across the food system that meets to discuss and act on food issues." FPCs have appeared across North America since the 1980's and many emerged in response to the environmental, health, and social impacts resulting from the dominant agri-food system. A FPC should ideally consist of representatives of each of five main sectors (production, processing, consumption, distribution, and waste recycling) to maximize its influence on the food system.

There is no correct way to organize a FPC as different models have proven to have different advantages and disadvantages. Councils vary in their membership and governance models, priorities, and programming. These differences are usually dictated by sources of funding or lack thereof and geographic limitations.

A) Session 1 – Relationship with government and what this means?

The aim of the earliest FPCs was to form close relationships with local governments, however over time, and as more FPCs were created, they often came in the form of grassroots or non-governmental organizations. It has been argued that FPCs with closer ties to government are in a good position to make policy recommendations as well as being afforded stability through support and resources

received. Alternatively, some argue that formal associations with government restrict the ability to propose changes and may restrict some funding options. A tactic that has proven useful for FPCs is having formally designated staff support from government departments or agencies that act as liaisons.

Six different models of food policy council governance in Canada were identified by MacRae & Donahue (2013). These categories are largely dependent on the membership of the council, its funding level and the link it has to government. These categories are:

Category 1: Municipality-driven food policy initiatives.

Category 2: Hybrid model with direct links to government.

Category 3: Hybrid model with indirect links to government.

Category 4: Food policy organization linked to government through a secondary agency.

Category 5: Civil society organization with limited government funding and participation.

Category 6: Civil society organization with no direct government involvement.

Further, MacRae & Donahue (2013) identified the following keys to success for FPCs, regardless of governance model:

- staff and members have extensive knowledge of and expertise in food systems, a sophisticated approach to food system change
- funding that is stable and sufficient for at least a lean organizational effort
- national and provincial networks to share information and best practices and build capacity for food policy work

I. Interview Results

Civil Society Governance Model

The three interviewees in this category generally had similar governance models. They all had either government officials or city staff sit on the council that provided some in-kind support. They all felt that the presence of city representatives was helpful as they were able to update the FPC on the discussions had by city council. It also gave them insights and hints on what council is more likely to listen and pay attention to. Two interviewees mentioned that these councillors joined their respective FPCs for political reasons. Thus, finding 'food champions' in the form of city councilors is important for FPCs who wish to have government representation on their council. The government representatives act as allies and a link between the city and the FPC, both in a formal and informal manner which could lead to the FPC acquiring more resources but also more legitimacy and political capital. The three interviewees also identified that not having to formally deal with government bureaucracy made projects move faster as they didn't need to seek approval from others. All FPCs in this category identified the lack of funding as an issue and a limitation to them fulfilling their organizational goals. However, since they receive no municipal funding there is a lot freedom for the FPC to pursue whatever project they like. It also gives them freedom to apply for funding from any community partners or funding bodies without restriction.

While there are positives and negatives to this model, everyone mentioned that they could use more funding. Whether they would prefer that funding to come from the municipality or other sources

remains unclear. One FPC which doesn't have any official representation from government mentioned that lack of official representation is an issue and limitation because FPC members have to spend time fostering relationships with elected officials or staff. It is also harder to get institutional buy-in on policy recommendations, for example. Because there are no formal links, city council are under no obligation to pursue or listen to recommendations that a FPC might have.

Hybrid Governance Model

The two interviewees in this category had indirect funding from the municipal body through allocated time from city staff and official representation from municipal committee members. Similar to their counterparts, they believed that their indirect link with the municipality is an advantage as they are still free to govern and organize themselves however they want. Within a two-year period both FPCs in this category have had their priorities change in one way or another which possibly could have been made more difficult should they be fully funded by a municipal body.

One membership and governance model that stood out was that of The Greater Sudbury Food Policy Council. The council has merged the two by having 'resource members' and 'council members'. "Resource members" are those whose professional work and occupation is related to the work of the council. Those members are often city or regional staff who use their staff time to feed into the work of the FPC. Volunteer members consist of anyone in the community who has time to volunteer to the council.

Another finding that stood out was a revelation by an interviewee who mentioned that the FPC isn't efficient at all. This former FPC chose to rebrand, and detach themselves from the FPC model and merely operate as a volunteer-run non-profit organization doing food advocacy work. The interviewee identified that the group is split into separate working groups. Each working group had a certain issue they were working on and the working group was free to organize themselves as they please, which proved to be more effective, according to the interviewee. It's worth noting that this group has more limited government involvement than the other FPC in this category.

B) Session 2 – Measuring Success

In an increasingly neoliberal age, funding and resources for work on enhancing food security rates, or for supporting local farmers and other food producers, are often dependent on results from evaluations. For that reason, among others, FPCs ought to strive to document and evaluate their work. If FPCs are seeking funding and are applying for a grant, being able to outline and point to previous successes will greatly benefit the FPC or group. Another benefit is that, as part of a network of food organizations, FPCs can share what works and what doesn't with their peers across their respective networks.

In documenting and evaluating their work, FPCs can have a chance to systematically review their goals and programming to identify if they are aligned with each other and adjust them if necessary. Another reason institutionalizing evaluation can be helpful to FPCs is that the work that often goes unrecognized can be documented. This can help members feel more of a sense of accomplishment, which can strengthen their ties to the council. Finally, since membership of some FPCs is constantly changing, it is

important to document all the work that is done to retain institutional memory for future members of the council.

Four ways in which to define 'success' or 'failure' with respect to FPCs have been identified:

- 1) in terms of their own goals;
- 2) in terms of the nature and scope of proposals adopted in their local context;
- 3) in terms of their contribution to educating political leaders, government officials and the public on food system issues; and
- 4) in terms of larger and longer-term goals relating to sustainability

Food systems and any interventions within them are inherently complex because of the large number of actors and stakeholders involved. Thus, an ideal mode of evaluation for FPCs would be a systems model. A systems model considers everything in relation to the program, including the intended consequences but also exterior variables are brought into the evaluation frame. However, a systems approach requires more knowledge and understanding of a program's activities which is more expensive financially and effort wise.

A stakeholder focused approach like Utilization Focused Evaluation, developed by Patton (1978), could be helpful. Utilization Focused Evaluation focuses on the goals of the program and how do the outcomes of a program contribute to the original goal or question posed. Adopting this system requires careful planning from the beginning of the program as the goal of the project is central to its evaluation in this model.

The main theory and method of defining success proposed in this paper is the sustainable livelihoods approach (SLA). A livelihood comprises the capacities, assets (material and social) and activities required for a means of living. A livelihood is sustainable when it can cope with and recover from stress and shocks, maintain or enhance its capabilities and assets, while not undermining natural resource base.

The most important resources needed for a sustainable livelihood are:

- 1) Human capital in labour but also skills, experience, knowledge and creativity.
- 2) Natural capital such as land, water, forests, pasture, and minerals.
- 3) Physical capital such as food stocks, including livestock, equipment, tools and machinery.
- 4) Financial capital, which is any economic resource that can be equated with monetary value.
- 5) Social capital specifically, the quality and strength of relations between people in a community.
- 6) Political capital that includes citizenship, membership in political parties, and informal political bases which help in obtaining or maintaining rights over other assets.

A food systems approach needs to assess the effects on each sector of the food cycle, including but not limited to: food production, processing and packaging, retailing and distributing, and consumption. All of these processes have potential to affect the six modes of capital mentioned above that are needed for a sustainable livelihood.

Evaluation typically focuses on results, however processes can also be evaluated as they can be beneficial. One easy criteria for FPCs to evaluate processes relates to the enhancement of social capital around the food system. Measuring social capital could be an asset to FPCs. It's also an effective way of influencing funders and policy makers as these institutions prefer to invest scarce resources in activities that can be measured and that have tangible outcomes. As the effect and shape of social capital is very context specific, a one size fits all measurement impact is not recommended as it can lead to misleading or loose results. Two methods of measuring social capital are social network mapping and free-form storytelling. "Social network analysis assumes that relationships are important. It maps and measures formal and informal relationships to understand what facilitates or impedes the knowledge flows that bind interacting units".

While we mentioned that standardized evaluation criteria could lead to loose results, there are tools that exist such as the "Get it Toolgether: Assessing Your Food Council's Ability to Do Policy Work" developed by Palmer & Calancie (2017). This tool can be helpful should a policy council want to be evaluated solely on their ability to achieve policies. The authors note that should a group's focus expand beyond policy work, that this tool is not intended to be a comprehensive evaluation for all of the group's work.

If evaluation is something a FPC is interested in, some quick common evaluation metrics which can be done collectively according to the interviewees include measuring:

- i) Media mentions;
- ii) Mentions of the FPC during city council meetings;
- iii) Public event attendance;
- iv) Volunteer hours, in-kind hours (used to apply for grants);
- v) Changes in bylaws and plans from year to year related to food.

Suggested Goals for Network and Sustain Ontario

- Continue sharing relevant resources through the Sustain Ontario Food Initiatives Greenhouse;
- Create resources that educate and enable Food Policy Councils to speak policy and government language;
- Create a checklist of things and resources to be considered for the effective running of a Food Policy Council;
- Create a video or webinar for new Food Policy Council members to inform them how councils are run and what the potential goals/work done could be;
- Recognize the similarities in key priorities across geographical regions so that Food Policy Councils can work together to affect policy change at a provincial level;
- Addressing issues of urban sprawl.

Network Focus for 2018

In this election year, the Municipal Food Policy Network will focus on the following goals:

- Creating a social media strategy that can be implemented by different organization about how to reach candidates.
- Identifying and compiling talking points, questions, or other materials that could be shared with candidates.
- Building upon work from prior election strategies (e.g., Vote On Food) and FSC community kitchen table meetings
- Bridging the rural /urban divide as per the work done by the Community Growing Network.

Overlap with Other Sustain Ontario Network Priorities

The Municipal Food Policy Research Network members have the potential to support policy goals that are brought forward by any of the other networks to their individual councils.

The Edible Education Network is also considering how to evaluate their work, including considering what would be important to measure and how best to communicate their findings in order to use their evaluations for advocacy work.

Edible Education Network

Across Ontario people are doing great work to connect children and youth with good food. This network (previously known as the Children and Youth Food Network) has been established to bring these groups together to share resources, ideas, and experience, to work together on advocacy, and to make it easier for people across Ontario to get children and youth eating, growing, cooking, celebrating, and learning about healthy, local and sustainably produced food..

Enhancing Local/Regional Collaboration to Support Good Food for Children and Youth

Policy Discussion at Bring Food Home – Description of Session

Groups that are connecting children and youth with healthy food systems are coming together in many regions across Ontario to learn about each other's activities, align efforts, and even form local networks. Participants at this working session will hear short presentations about some of the efforts that are taking place and then will have the opportunity to consider how they could enhance collaboration within their own region of Ontario. The session will explore questions such as: What opportunities exist to support local collaboration relating to good food for children and youth? How have other regions collaborated on issues such as local advocacy, professional development for teachers, networking, and information sharing? What types of networks exist that could be modeled and learned from? Could a collective impact framework be useful for local/regional groups to apply? How could Sustain Ontario's Edible Education Network support more local/regional collaboration?

Summary of Policy Paper

All of the information in this background document has been sourced from:

Network Weaver Handbook: A Guide to Transformational Networks, written by June Holley. Published by Network Weaving Publishing, Athens, Ohio, USA, February 2012.

The handbook is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution-NonCommercial-ShareAlike 3.0 Unported License. Visit www.networkweaver.com for more information.

Definitions

Intentional Network: a network of people and organizations that are working on the same issue or vision, together with structures that have been created to mobilize the energy of these organizations

Formal Intentional Network: a set of organizations comes together and creates a new organization or a set of agreements about membership, governance, and goals. Formal intentional networks have clear boundaries and purpose.

Informal Network: many intentional networks are informally organized. This means that they do not have a membership, they don't meet as a whole network, and they don't have a set agreed-upon purpose. Those who belong to the network may simply share information and self-organize into action

clusters to work on different projects. An informal structure may be an excellent model for networks that put an emphasis on breakthroughs, innovation, and going viral. These networks work when many people take the initiative to organize different projects to experiment and discover what works.

Types of Networks

Movements: Movements happen when networks of people raise issues to the public and often political attention. Movements are often informally structured and tend to be made up of a variety of different networks that are working towards common aims. (e.g. the women's movement)

Advocacy Networks: An advocacy network is a collaboration of individuals and groups that are advocating for specific goals and are taking action around a specific issue. These tend to be informally structured. They can be identified as SPIN networks – Segmentary (many diverse & changing groups); Polycentric (multiple, often temporary, sometimes competing leaders / centres of influence); Networked (multiple linkages including speaking tours, joint activities, common reading matter). (e.g. women's right to vote)

Coalitions/campaigns: These are very tightly defined advocacy networks with clear membership that form to advocate for a specific policy initiative. These tend to be formally structured and members needs to agree on a clearly defined set of objectives. Coalitions are often short-term and often organize campaigns as a means to achieve what they are asking for.

System Development Networks: Rather than raising issues and changing policy related to identified problems (as is typically done by advocacy network), these networks focus on developing a new system. (e.g. farmers working to develop new distribution systems; community gardens). These networks typically focus on experimentation, innovation, and engagement.

Multiscalar Networks: When System Development Networks include horizontal networks (i.e. when regional / local networks encourage small self-organizing groups to implement opportunity-driven projects) and vertical networks (linked regionally / nationally to learn from each other and to work on policy and new infrastructure).

Network Focus

A network typically chooses a focal point to rally its work. This focal point is usually one of the following:

- An issue (e.g. food policy)
- A problem (e.g. hunger)
- A geography (e.g. a neighbourhood network)
- A system (e.g. a sustainable food economy)
- A vision (e.g. healthy eating)

Network Function

It is valuable when a network identifies its key functions and what types of activities it will take on to achieve its purposes. A network can seek to achieve many different functions including one or more of:

- Sharing information
- Coordinating action, events or services
- Organizing joint training and skill-building
- Setting up joint purposes
- Organizing joint research
- Organizing joint learning
- Forming a joint publicity or educational campaign
- Setting up a joint referral system
- Developing a joint brand, standards or criteria

- Developing new collaborative programs or services
- Moving a policy or advocacy agenda forward
- Advocating for a specific group or issue
- Generating new system elements: programs, services, activities, institutions, etc...
- Engaging stakeholders or mobilizing a base
- Generating innovation and breakthroughs for the field

These can be loosely structured as:

- Networks that have Light Functions (such as sharing information or holding a joint training event). These activities are typically low-risk. What is needed is clear coordination by an individual or small group. These can be a great place for a network to start to build trust and relationships.
- Networks that require explicit agreement (about a brand, message, or campaign) can be referred to as One Front Functions as they need to move forward in a united way. Clarity about membership, commitment and principles are essential.
- Networks that are more about Engagement and Experimentation. In this case subsets of the network are trying out new approaches or developing new parts of a system. A network can connect people and make sure that different activities fit together and add up to something.

Network Structure and Governance

"Networks are different than organizations: there is no boss who can fire members if they don't do their job, there are no weekly staff meetings to ensure that the communication and learning are taking place, and there are no teams or departments to organize the work and distribute funds. This means that networks need to create an explicit support network that ensures accountability, makes sure communication is happening, and supports leadership and action."

There are 3 basic types of network structure:

- 1. Organization-Like Network Structure: These networks function very much like an organization. People join the network and make financial and time commitments. They engage in goal-setting and planning processes (often by a governing board). Work is accomplished through committees or task forces. A challenge of these types of networks is that they sometimes have difficulty engaging members and so they benefit from building relationships among members, increasing opportunities for input, and spending time distributing work. Organization-like networks need to agree on:
 - Purpose
 - Guiding principles
 - Goals
 - Membership
 - Operations

- Planning or prioritization
- Governance
- Action
- Money / resources

2. Self-Organized Networks: These networks are very loosely structured and operate in a decentralized way. Decision-making is located in the many self-organized projects that emerge. This is often the case for System Development Networks. Some of these networks offer an online platform for discussion as their main contribution. Others are more structured but still have no membership: those who want to initiate projects are part of the network. These can include monthly meet-ups or joint projects among members. These networks are most effective when many people in the network work to foster relationships and make sure that support systems are set up.

Self-organized networks depend on some people to guide the network and provide aspects such as:

- A catalyzing function
- Training and support for those who want to build and connect the network
- Coaching for self-organized projects
- System mapping and identification of opportunities
- Venues for reflection
- Social web training
- 3. Hybrid Network: This model is adopted for the majority of networks. Network facilitators organize the work of the network so that people within the network can take initiative. These networks may or may not have a membership or a governing board.

Hybrid network needs to select thoughtfully from the above elements. Minimum specifications include:

- Purpose
- Guiding principles
- System mapping and prioritization
- Working groups
- Innovation fund for supporting decentralized action

Leadership Roles that Support a Network

Network Connectors: These people identify aspects of the network that are undeveloped and work to link and connect people (e.g. introduce people to each other who can collaborate – such as an academic with a population that they are trying to research and support). The network connector also looks for clusters of people who are not connected (e.g. teachers and not-for-profits).

Network Facilitator: This role involves helping a group of people with a common interest set up a more formal structure. The network facilitator is involved in:

- a. Catalyzing the network, which can happen by providing information about networks; helping people see the benefits of a network approach; and bringing people together to help the group map and understand the network.
- b. Supporting the network in developing an appropriate structure and terms of reference.

- c. Coordinating the network, which can include bringing network members together to accomplish tasks, providing social media outreach, organizing action by developing and regularly revising a plan, and helping members organize projects.
- d. Helping network members build and strengthen relationships of trust and understanding. A network should be able to clearly frame its values. Every meeting and call can include relationship-building activities.

Most networks hire a network facilitator to coordinate the network. The facilitator needs to have skills in meeting facilitation, agenda development, listening, negotiation and persuasion, conflict resolution, planning and prioritization, reporting, and social web skills for communication.

Project Coordinator: This role is valuable once enough people have become connected and have started self-organizing. This person can:

- a. Be a project catalyst (i.e. help the group organize itself)
- b. Coordinate projects in a way that is transparent so that others in the group can see what's happening
- c. Be a project coach i.e. help interested people become strong project coordinators Network Guardian: This role takes a broad perspective to pay attention to the network and help determine what the network needs (e.g. what is going well, what are the challenges, are resources flowing well and fairly). Network guardians also notice and take action to help networks develop systems (communication and engagement, support for network weavers, fair access to resources, and reflection and integration).

Forming a Network

There are two activities that are critical to forming a network. The first is to determine the structure of the network. BUT it's just as important to spend time helping people build relationships that will help them make decisions together. Successful networks start by helping people get to know each other and help them gain a deeper understanding of the issue they're working on. Often this starts when certain people act as network weavers by starting to connect people in the network, two and three at a time.

Other times a network catalyst may bring everyone together to facilitate discussion on the issue. These 2 activities are sometimes pursued by two separate working groups.

"When a network decides to completely determine its structure before doing anything else, it is often condemning itself to failure, since the structuring process can drag on for years and momentum for working on the issue may be lost." Rather than spend much time on structure, some networks choose instead to make as few decisions together as a whole network as possible. However, all networks can benefit from developing Ground Rules for Interaction.

Key Strategies to Develop and Strengthen Networks

1. Map the network. This involves visually mapping relationships within the network in a way that enables members to take responsibility for improving it. Mapping can be done by hand (sticky notes on a big sheet of paper) or electronically using a software tool such as https://bubbl.us/ or

https://kumu.io/. This will let the group see who is connected to the core of the network, how strong those connections are, and who are at the periphery that could be better connected. The group can then ask questions such as whether all stakeholders are at the table, if there are any isolated groups, and who else needs to be brought into the network.

- 2. Develop Term of References (TORs) for the Network to guide the governance structure (see the network structure section above).
- 3) Close triangles. This involves connecting two individuals so that these people can collaborate on their own. This can be a first step in getting more people to initiate and implement action. It is particularly important to use this method to bring new people in, to connect clusters, and to connect people with little access to power to those who can open doors.
- 4) Implement action projects. Right from the start, while the network structure is still developing, it can be useful to experiment with network action whether by developing an action plan or taking on activities of interest. Networks that seek to take action can be very effective when they focus "on opportunities and leverage points that have the greatest chance of making a difference.

Spending time on drawing and understanding the system you are trying to change and then identifying areas where focused action would make the most difference right now can lead to substantial change in a short period of time." Taking action can involve setting up 'twosies' – two people who can work together to take something on – or sub-groups that can draw others in and report back to the larger network. A critical part of a network is to make sure that there are systems in place for this type of self-organizing. "Self-organizing is, without a doubt, the aspect of networks that is most likely to bring transformation." "When self-organizing is encouraged and supported, many more people will initiate collaborative projects."

5) Train members in network building/weaving. Right from the start, those who are developing the network can gather and share information about networks and how to strengthen them. A key part of building a network can be to keep extending this training to others.

Overlap with Other Networks

All other Sustain Network's and member organizations could benefit from this information about networks.

From Evaluation to Advocacy: Making the Case for Good Food Programs for Children and Youth

Policy Discussion at Bring Food Home – Description of Session

This working session will follow from the "Evaluation and Making the Case for Good Food Programs for Children and Youth" presentation session to allow participants to explore in more depth how we can collaborate to make a stronger case for good food programs for children and youth. The session will explore what tools, resources and knowledge we already have and know and where significant gaps exist that we could work to fill in collaboration with each other.

Summary of Policy Paper

The following list shows some existing initiatives along the continuum from evaluation to making the case (primarily Ontario-based) and offers some ideas about how we, as a movement, can work together to strengthen aspects along the continuum.

First the paper explored, capacity in terms of the training required for evaluation, determining the best metrics for measurement and tools for evaluation. Next there is a discussion of the available evidence to date, and its strengths and weaknesses. Finally, current efforts and needs to communicate findings will be discussed.

Capacity – Training:

Are we ready to perform evaluation that can support our sector to do advocacy for good food programs for children and youth?

Have those involved been trained in evaluation, including purposes and methods?

Examples of existing initiatives / knowledge:

- The Growing Out: Evaluation and Impact Youth-Grown Tools project (led by Sustain Ontario and FoodShare) is intended to empower youth who participate in food programs throughout Ontario to evaluate and share their experiences of the impacts and processes of these projects, in ways that are authentic to them. A part of this project is training youth evaluators.
- Canadian Evaluation Society: Essential Skills Series http://www.evaluationontario.ca/professional-development/upcoming-events/essentialskills-series/
- Ontario Not-for-Profit Network Evaluation Resources Site http://theonn.ca/ourwork/ourstructures/evaluation/
- Liberating Structures (US) http://www.liberatingstructures.com

Capacity – Metrics:

Have priority outcomes been agreed upon that are worth consistent measurement?

Do we know what to measure? Do we have the right language / categories to measure? Have we developed a logic model to elaborate our theory of change?

Examples of existing initiatives / knowledge:

- The Ontario Society for Nutrition Professionals in Public Health (OSNPPH) has been undertaking a process as a part of a Locally Driven Collaborative Project to develop a tool for measuring food literacy and its attributes within the context of public health practice. The project has recently undergone a broad public process to define and prioritize food literacy attributes. The project's aim is to develop a tool that public health professionals can use to assess food literacy levels and evaluate any work that is being done in the community and schools.
- PGP Evaluation Project: Sustain Ontario, Eco-Ethonomics and FoodShare partnered to review evaluation projects and tools and build a Collective Impact Map for Ontario's Food Movement. This collective impact map was developed with input from hundreds of sector stakeholders and communicates many child & youth-focused indicators and outcomes.
- The Ontario Food and Nutrition Strategy is an expert and evidence-informed plan for healthy food and food systems in Ontario. While the OFNS has not identified priority outcomes, it has established a number of broad goals to work towards along with directions and action areas, many of which focus on children and youth.
- Evaluation for Transformation: A Cross-Sectoral Evaluation Framework for Farm to School (US): This document provides an evaluation framework for farm to school. It aims to help move collective Farm to School work forward "by identifying practices and policies that have demonstrated benefits and by recommending areas for additional exploration." It is also intended to guide "how sites consistently articulate and implement program elements, evaluate efforts and report on outcomes". Table 26 (beginning on page 91) has a summary table of priority outcomes that have been identified using a collaborative process.

Capacity – Evaluation:

Are strong tools available to perform evaluation? (Survey instruments, interview or focus group schedules, appropriate software, etc...)

Examples of existing initiatives / knowledge:

Groups and projects across Ontario have been performing evaluations to assess their programs. These have not been collected or compiled.

- Evaluation for Transformation: A Cross-Sectoral Evaluation Framework for Farm to School (US):
 Links to sample tools for some of the measures (see Appendix 5). A fuller repository of Farm to School evaluation tools is available at www.farmtoschool.org.
- Bearing Fruit: Farm to School Program Evaluation Resources and Recommendations (US): This resource is a resource guide for planning farm to school evaluation. The report includes a compilation of farm to school evaluations and tools to conduct evaluations (in the appendix). It provides a summary of key evaluation results from farm to school projects.

Evidence:

What findings are available?

Are these results based on strong studies? Are these easily accessible? Have they been gathered in one place? Do we need additional information to make our case?

Examples of existing initiatives / knowledge:

- The Ontario Edible Education Network website shares a summary of impacts relating to good food education for children and youth. These include primarily US data from peer reviewed journals.
- Food Secure Canada's Coalition for Healthy School Food's position paper points to the positive impacts of meal programs. The Coalition will soon be releasing a more extensive research paper relating to impacts and best practices of school food programs.
- Farm to Cafeteria Canada will soon release a "Benefits of Farm to School in Canada" factsheet summarizing scholarly and/or grey literature exploring outcomes in Canadian schools.
- Feeding our Future offers the results of an evaluation of the effects of a Universal-Free School Breakfast Program in the Toronto District School Board.
- Many groups across Ontario have been performing their own evaluations.
- Evaluation for Transformation: A Cross-Sectoral Evaluation Framework for Farm to School (US): provides many references

Communications:

Have publicly available tools been developed to communicate the existing evidence to the appropriate decision-makers / funders? (infographics, videos, key messages, etc.)

Do we have a common language to communicate our messages? Are we using language that matters to key decision makers (e.g. school boards, the Ontario Ministry of Education, etc...)?

Do we have the needed stakeholders involved in this issue? Should we be linking with environmental education, Community Food Centres, and other intersecting movements in this effort?

Examples of existing initiatives / knowledge:

- Sustain Ontario's Say Yes! to Good Food in Schools materials include briefs, key messages and
 case studies. These tools can be used and adapted to help others make the case for good food in
 schools.
- A broader Say Yes! campaign and tools are being developed by the Coalition for Healthy

School Food to help everyone make the case for good food in schools.

Groups have been making submissions to the Government of Ontario. The Ontario Edible
 Education Network's submissions to the Ontario government are available online.

Suggested Goals for Network and Sustain Ontario

The following were presented and discussed as ideas for future initiatives at Bring Food Home.

For Capacity:

- Evaluation webinars / trainings to develop strong tools and methods (Evaluation 101)
- Online evaluation toolkit on the Greenhouse
- Identify and make use of assessment measures from government strategies such as:
 - Achieving Excellence: A Renewed Vision for Education in Ontario (with its 4 goals of Achieving Excellence, Ensuring Equity, Promoting Well-Being and Enhancing Public Confidence).
 - Ontario's Poverty Reduction Strategy
 - Food literacy goals set by OMAFRA
- Develop an evaluation toolkit with examples/links to tools and methods that others can use to evaluate programs in a meaningful way
- Share software recommendations and tracking tools.

For Evidence:

- How could we better point to, collect, and/or communicate evidence / findings?
- Common projects from across Ontario could come together to work on a common evaluation project.
- There is a need for date that demonstrates behavioural change. It would be valuable to study if the changes are long term or short term.

For Communication:

- We need to think about what motivates policy change.
- Broaden the Say Yes! campaign. It would be valuable to expand the Say Yes! to Good Food in Schools advocacy campaign AND to train people to be able to communicate / do advocacy work effectively using the Say Yes! materials. It would also be valuable to share tools to allow people to capture and measure outcomes.
- Compile stats from other programs (existing info) regarding food and children that might inspire people. This could also be used to support conversations on how to shift the stats.
- Connect the stories of impact in communities across Ontario to the supporting research and data. This can bring to life the visions we have for school food and the impact that programs have on the health and well-being of students across Ontario.

Overlap with Other Networks

The Municipal Food Policy Research Network has also been looking at ways which they could evaluate their work, including what to measure and what it means to be successful.

Working with School Boards to Advance Good Food in Schools Policy Discussion at Bring Food Home – Description of Session

This session will follow from the "How to Work with School Boards to Advance Good Food in Schools" presentation session. It will engage participants in discussion about how to support school food champions to work and communicate more effectively with school boards. The session will provide time for participants to ask questions of each other and will engage everyone in discussion about what tools, resources and knowledge we already have and know and where significant gaps exist that we could work to fill in collaboration with each other.

The session may explore questions such as: "At what levels are people working with school boards? What are they doing?" "What role can the Edible Education Network play to support this issue?" "How can we continue to collaborate and share information?"

Summary of Policy Paper

Across Ontario communities are working to advance healthy school food environments, often relying on school board approval and support. This is the case across issues including: establishing and maintaining school gardens, bringing educational programs into the classroom, local food procurement in cafeterias, cooking programs, integrating Student Nutrition Programs into the curriculum, and field trips to local farms and community gardens.

Members of the Ontario Edible Education Network, who are championing these types of initiatives, have repeatedly commented on their need for help with school board advocacy.

- How can they navigate school board culture?
- How can champions effectively make their case to improve the health and wellbeing of children and youth through a range of school food programs and initiatives?

Presentations

The following are descriptions of presentations made at Bring Food Home with regards to working with school board.

Presentation 1: Sunday Harrison (Green Thumbs Growing Kids in Toronto) presented a brief background about school boards in Ontario and the scope of GTGK's work. School boards are responsible for determining their own policies; however, most do not have policies relating to good food. There is more policy at the provincial level; however, food policy seems to be limited to PPM 150. This means that there are typically no agreed upon metrics or assessment and no budget for this kind of work. There is typically no dedicated funding for school grounds as instructional spaces (no grants tied to student learning). Sunday offered a number of tips for working with school boards including: Policy is important but relationships with key people at schools and boards are critical. Find champions! Winning projects will fit into policies.

Presentation 2: Kim McGibbon (Roots to Harvest in Thunder Bay) spoke about the Get Fresh Café initiative. They started with Farm to Caf programs once a month (cooking in the classroom and serving

the cafeteria) and have now scaled up to serving these meals every day in one school as a pilot (Thanks to Greenbelt Fund funding). The cafeteria provides daily meals cooked by staff with help from food and nutrition classes – pizza dough, muffin mixes, soup bases, sauces, croutons. They spent years building relationships with the school board to get the necessary buy in to support healthy food for kids. They also needed to build relationships with the chef, cafeteria staff, parents, students, and all other stakeholders. More information about the project and an inspiring video are available at http://www.rootstoharvest.org/education.html.

Presentation 3: Jen Coorsh (Growing up Organic (GUO) in Ottawa) spoke about GUO's work establishing and supporting school gardens in the Ottawa area and their current partnership with the OCDSB. They built a strong relationship with the school board in part through a GUO advisory committee that met monthly; a member of the school board was on the advisory. It is important to understand school boards and their interests. GUO helps to support: Curriculum connections by helping create conditions for learning; Inquiry-based and student-led learning (for example, gardening is a critical entry point for learning); Flexibility and personalization (i.e. flexible programming that responds to the unique needs of the school); and Helping to connect students to the world around them through gardening and food. It is also important to think about links to a school board's strategic plan and exit outcomes when making the case for good food programming.

Presentation 4: Britt McKee (Ecosource in Mississauga) spoke about a number of Ecosource's initiatives that have been achieved in collaboration with school boards. Alternative Avenues to Local Food in School: Ingredients for Success provides tips to bring more local food into school settings. Tips include: Find the win-win (what can all sides buy into); Start with a pilot and then scale up; Provide communication support, training for staff, and bring people together in facilitation dialogue; Partner up with other organizations that have funding. The following are some key elements for partnerships with school boards: Plan early - months/years; Champions are key but you need the right person.

Suggested Goals for Network and Sustain Ontario

The Network has come up with the following ideas for tools that could help champions to advance good food in schools:

- 1) Examples of School Board Policies that Model Healthy Food Environments: We would like to document and share some model school board policies so that anyone who is approaching their own board can refer to existing examples.
 - The model policies should cover a range of issues (school gardens, local food procurement, curriculum links, etc.).
 - Ontario-specific examples are the ideal to have at hand though we may expand this to Canadian examples or broader (if no local examples are available).
 - This could include a tip sheet with some discussion about how groups might make use of the policy/policy language to inspire their own school board to adopt such a shift.

2) Tip Sheet: This would be a general info sheet about how school boards work, what motivates them, how to best approach and work with them, etc. It would include stories from those who have had successful partnerships with school boards relating to good food programs.

Ideas include:

- Find an internal champion
- Link into programs with significant funding attached (e.g. SHSM).
- Speak their language (e.g. current conversations are about student wellbeing,

Innovation, Creativity, and Entrepreneurship (ICE) training,

3) Pocket Guide to address common school board concerns: This would be a guide about how to answer common concerns of school boards, facilities managers, public health etc... and how to mitigate any of the common risks that are identified.

Different focuses might include:

- Local Food procurement (cafeterias, parent-led meal services, hospitality programs,
- catering...)
- Gardens
- Food Skills / Culinary programs
- Curriculum (i.e. getting into the classroom)

Overlap with Other Networks

These resources could also be used by the Community Growing Network in order to work with school boards to establish gardens on school property.

These resources could also be used by the Sustainable Food Enterprise Network in order to work with school boards to encourage sustainable procurement in schools.

Food Justice Network

Organizations working together in solidarity for food justice within the province of Ontario. Looking at a just and sustainable food system that is rooted in food sovereignty.

Building Understanding and Awareness About Systemic Inequities in our Food System

Policy Discussion at Bring Food Home – Description of Session

Sustain Ontario's Food Justice Network is committed to building understanding and awareness about systemic inequities in our food system. As well, we are working toward solutions that will improve access to food in Ontario and the resources required to grow, gather, and consume it. At Sustain Ontario's Bring Food Home conference, the Food Justice Network will be hosting sessions dedicated to identifying and analyzing systemic inequities in food and agriculture, while prioritizing space for communities most affected by oppression and injustice in the food system.

Summary of Policy Paper

Following from longstanding racial and environmental justice (EJ) research and activism, "food justice seeks to ensure that the benefits and risks of where, what and how food is grown, produced, transported, distributed, accessed and eaten are shared fairly. Food justice (FJ) includes issues often ignored by more privileged groups and movements in the food system, such as food worker rights, affordability of healthy, sustainably produced food, economic justice, the role of the military and the criminal justice system in maintaining racial and economic injustice, and specifically seeing these issues as deeply connected to the food system.

A central feature of the food justice movement is that it emphasizes the role of race in its critique of, and solutions to, problems in the food system. Racial equity, requires empowerment-based social change that directly confronts cultural, political and economic marginalization.

In the Canadian context, issues of food justice must be placed within a broader structure and understanding of settler colonialism, as settler colonialism is the foundation upon which land and food systems have evolved. Settler colonialism should be understood as a structure and not an event, whose patterns and logics are sustained today, and done so to maintain white settler (social, cultural, and material) domination.

Concerning food specifically, the settler colonial government (the same government posed to establish a national food policy) continues to suppress Indigenous agrarianism and other forms of food gathering. Since European contact, nearly all forms of Indigenous food growing, gathering, and trading have been banned. Meanwhile, Indigenous peoples have been prohibited from practicing colonial forms of farming and have been restricted from accessing the land and resources it requires. At the same time, Indigenous land dispossession allowed for the white, male-centered system of "conventional" agriculture to be established—land that was not the Crown's to give away to white-European immigrants in the first place.

Meanwhile, Canada has concurrently been built on a system of racial hierarchy more broadly, which is expressed clearly through our immigration system and the longstanding exploitation of racialized immigrant labour. Concerning food provisioning specifically, racialized labour exploitation manifests acutely through the Seasonal Agricultural Workers Program (SAWP). Current research "identifies the SAWP as a legally sanctioned form of labor unfreedom", because the worker is only authorized to provide labour to the assigned employer. Furthermore, SAWP workers have no formal route to permanent residency.

A central issue concerning FJ in practice is that, as it has increasingly been adopted in U.S. food movements, it has become fused or conflated with—and even dissolved under—more institutionally legitimized concepts of food access, security and local food. Specifically, more common, or mainstream food movements in the U.S. and Canada—such as local food movements, farmers markets, food banks, and food access initiatives more broadly—often have an optimistically reformist view of the state, wherein they see public health and government-led agri-food, and environmental programs as central to the goal of food security. A central concern being that these food movements are commonly led by white and/or economically privileged identities. It is not surprising then that those with privilege would view the state as an ally, or at least as capable of, and essential to supporting sustainable food systems of 'all'.

From a food justice lens, the solutions are in the communities, and are context specific. Therefore, big policy 'solutions' should be defined by those most affected, while ensuring communities are supported to create the solutions that work for them. The point being, those most marginalized should be prioritized when discussing food system solutions, and such discussions should focus on localized communities concurrent with communities of identity.

Additionally, within the structure of settler colonialism in Canada, alternative modes of governance must be considered, and such consideration should specifically include the role of land repatriation. Such efforts ought to thus prioritize shifts toward Indigenous governance structures. Of course, Indigenous governance structures are not monolithic, and differ based on the nation/community and their specific relation to their lands and water. In effect, these processes, and their relationship to settler institutions and authorities, are for Indigenous nations/communities to direct and determine for themselves.

Food Justice Work

A food justice lens focuses on root causes, transformational change, and promotes systemic solutions rooted in equity. Taking from energy justice, food justice should also be rooted in tenets of:

Distributional justice: Focuses on land, resources, labour, and ecological systems more generally. Currently, the distribution of the benefits and ills of our food system are significantly unequal. FJ calls for fair distribution of benefits for all members of society regardless of income, race, etc alongside the dismantling of environmental ills.

Procedural justice: Demands equitable procedures that engages those most affected by a project/process/action in a meaningful and ongoing way. A central component of both food justice and food sovereignty is community decision-making power over food systems.

Recognition justice: Recognition justice is more than tolerance, and states that individuals must be fairly represented, that they must be free from physical threats and that they must be offered complete and equal political rights. But, some argue that recognition may often not go far enough. Especially concerning Indigenous sovereignty, rooting justice in the politics of recognition assumes a set of powers onto the settler colonial state, and relies on this state formation to acknowledge and uphold Indigenous sovereignty and rights. Therefore, Indigenous resurgence combined with settler reckoning may be a better means to envision 'recognition justice' moving forward.

FJ work ranges in scale and scope, from grassroots organizing and programming, to policy development, advocacy and activism. Slocum and Cadieux (2015) identify 4 broad areas through which food justice organizing and action may occur:

- 1. Acknowledging and confronting historical, collective social trauma and persistent race, gender, and class inequalities.
- 2. Designing exchange mechanisms that build communal reliance and control. Most obviously, this includes various co-operative and community supported networks and models. Food and agricultural exchange co-ops include models across the food system (from production to retail). That said, it is still unclear about the extent to which CSA's and co-ops are able to address socioeconomic inequalities in food and land access, especially concerning marginalized groups.
- Creating innovative ways to control, use, share, own, manage and conceive of land, and ecologies in general, that place them outside the speculative market and the rationale of extraction.
- 4. Pursuing labour relations that guarantee a minimum income and are neither alienating nor dependent on (unpaid) social reproduction by women.

This policy paper was developed by the Food Justice Network with the help of researcher Sarah Rotz. For the full paper including references to works cited, please go to http://bringfoodhome.com/bfh-papers/.

Goals for Sustain Ontario

The following are suggestions that were raised in discussion at Bring Food Home as ways that Sustain Ontario could apply FJ:

- Encourage a shift from food justice as a topic to food justice as a lens that is integrated
 across all networks/issues. Consider what these principles should look like and how they
 could be applied to each of Sustain Ontario's networks.
- Consider how Sustain can build sustained relationships and collaborations with those most affected so that marginalized voices are included and centered when quick policy/interventions/briefs/letters of endorsement need to be developed and delivered.

- How do we gather those voices and keep them close? Consider if there is a way to push back against rigid timelines to ensure our members are meaningfully consulted about an issue.
- Need to secure funding in order to break down barriers to participation for marginalized folks (e.g. child care, conference costs, etc.). This includes ensuring that food justice education and training, which is often borne by marginalized folks, is compensated. Consideration should be given to how the Bring Food Home conference can be made more accessible in the future.
- Sustain ought to review Truth and Reconciliation Commission recommendations as a Board and to think more broadly and concretely about ways to decolonize Sustain.
- Allow for a focus on alternative forms of knowledge transfer/transmission: e.g. conversational learning, storytelling, artistic, etc.
- Seek ways to build cohesion with other organizations to collaborate for grants and briefings so that we are not scrambling at the last minute before deadlines.

Policy Goals for Network and Sustain Ontario

The following policy goals arose in discussion at Bring Food Home. While the Food Justice Network has not yet determined a policy direction on these goals, they may be considered by the network in the future.

- Determine how food justice can intervene on current regulations. E.g. the 'Ontario Food Premises Regulation'.
- Seek to better connect with immigrant groups and organizations and to develop recommendations to support immigrant food growers and suppliers.
- Identify ways that farmers and food activist organizations can build relationships and collaborations with Indigenous land and treaty defenders. How can farmers and food justice activists stand in ongoing solidarity with Indigenous Nations and land defenders?
- Inform what food justice work looks like for advocacy organizations. Determine how organizations can be 'goal-based' about food justice organizing.
- Explore the role that food waste has in food justice.
- Consider ways to build discussion between white settlers and marginalized group. Non-Indigenous, settler, white folk reading groups and discussions might be useful, they can then educate each other about how our systems are reified.

Overlap with Other Sustain Ontario Network Priorities

A Food Justice lens can be applied to work being done across all of the other networks.

There is overlap between the Food Justice Network with regards to supports their identification of a need for support for immigrant and marginalized farmers, food workers and producer and the Farming and Farmland Network's goals of supports for new and young farmers.

The Community Growing Network with regards to engaging diverse communities is closely linked to the Food Justice Network's work.

Works Cited

Sustainable Food Enterprise Network

Sustainable Institutional Food Procurement: Challenges and Opportunities for Public Institutions

- Barling, D. et al. 2013. Revaluing public sector food procurement in Europe: An action plan for sustainability.
 Wageningen: Wageningen University.
 http://www.foodlinkscommunity.net/fileadmin/documents organicresearch/foodlinks/publications/Foodlinks report low.pdf
- Berti, G., & Mulligan, C. (2016). Competitiveness of Small Farms and Innovative Food Supply Chains: The Role of Food Hubs in Creating Sustainable Regional and Local Food Systems. Sustainability, 8(7), 616. https://doi.org/10.3390/su8070616
- 3. Bloom, J. D., & Hinrichs, C. C. (2011). Moving local food through conventional food system infrastructure: Value chain framework comparisons and insights. *Renewable Agriculture and Food Systems*, 26(01), 13–23. https://doi.org/10.1017/S1742170510000384
- 4. Born, Branden and Mark Purcell. (2006). Avoiding the Local Trap: Scale and Food Systems in Planning Research. *Journal of Planning Education and Research* 26, no. 2: 195-207.
- 5. Canadian Electronic Library (Firm) and Food Matters Manitoba. (2016). Manitoba on the Menu: Exploring Local and Sustainable Food Procurement in Manitoba Institutions. Winnipeg, Manitoba: Food Matters Manitoba. http://www.foodmattersmanitoba.ca/wp-content/uploads/2016/02/Manitoba-on-the-Menu-Final-Report-Food-Matters-MB-2015.pdf
- 6. Cleveland, D. A., Müller, N. M., Tranovich, A. C., Mazaroli, D. N., & Hinson, K. (2014). Local food hubs for alternative food systems: A case study from Santa Barbara County, California. *Journal of Rural Studies*, 35, 26–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jrurstud.2014.03.008
- 7. Conner, David S., Betty T. Izumi, Toni Liquori, and Michael W. Hamm. 2012. Sustainable school food procurement in large K-12 districts: Prospects for value chain partnerships. *Agricultural and Resource Economics Review* 41, (1) (04): 100-113.
- 8. Deloitte for The Ontario Municipal Knowledge Network (OMKN). Best practices in local food: A guide for municipalities. https://www.amo.on.ca/AMO-PDFs/Reports/2013/2013BestPracticesinLocalFoodAGuideforMunicipalitie.aspx
- 9. Food Secure Canada and The J.W. McConnell Family Foundation. (2017). Purchasing Power: 10 Lessons on Getting More Local, Sustainable, and Delicious Food in Schools, Hospitals and Campuses. https://foodsecurecanada.org/sites/foodsecurecanada.org/sites/foodsecurecanada.org/files/purchasing-power-report2017.pdf
- Friedmann, H. (2007). Scaling up: Bringing public institutions and food service corporations into the project for a local, sustainable food system in Ontario. Agriculture and Human Values, 24(3), 389–398. https://doi.org/http://dx.doi.org.myaccess.library.utoronto.ca/10.1007/s10460-006-9040-2
- 11. Gibson-Graham, J. K. (2008). Diverse Economies: Performative Practices for `other Worlds. *Progress in Human Geography* 32, no. 5: 613-632.
- 12. Ikerd, J. (2011). Essential principles of sustainable food value chains. Journal of Agriculture, Food Systems, and Community Development, 1(4), 15–17. Retrieved from http://search.proquest.com.myaccess.library.utoronto.ca/docview/908413342?accountid=14771&OpenUrlRefld=info:xri/sid:summon
- 13. Knezevic, I., Landman, K., Blay-Palmer, A. and Nelson, E. (Eds.) (2013). Models and Best Practices for Building Sustainable Food Systems in Ontario and Beyond. Guelph, ON: Ontario Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs.

- 14. Lapalme, Hayley. Ontario Student Nutrition Programs: Exploring Local Food Group Purchasing Frameworks. Prepared for MEALsource with funding from the Local Food Fund. http://www.sjhs-gpo.ca/sites/default/files/website files/OSNP%20Group%20Purchasing%20Exploration Feb2016 WEB.pdf
- 15. Morgan, K. (2008). Greening the Realm: Sustainable Food Chains and the Public Plate. *Regional Studies*, 42(9), 1237–1250. https://doi.org/10.1080/00343400802195154
- 16. Morgan, K. & Morley, A. (2002). Relocalising the Food Chain: The Role of Creative Public Procurement. Cardiff, Wales: The Regeneration Institute, Cardiff University. [Electronic Version] Retrieved March 16, 2007 from http://www.organic.aber.ac.uk/library/RelocalisingProcurement.pdf.
- 17. Morgan, K., & Morley, A. (2014). The public plate: Harnessing the power of purchase. In Sustainable food systems: building a new paradigm (pp. 84–102). London: Routledge.
- 18. Morgan, Kevin and Roberta Sonnino. *The School Food Revolution: Public Food and the Challenge of Sustainable Development*. London: Sterling, VA: Earthscan, 2008.
- 19. Morley, A., Morgan, S., & Morgan, K. (2008). Food Hubs: the "missing middle" of local food infrastructure? BRASS Centre, Cardiff University.
- 20. Ng, S.-L., Bednar, C., & Longley, C. (2010). Challenges, benefits and strategies of implementing a farm-to-cafeteria program in college and university foodservice operation. *Journal of Foodservice Management and Education*, 4(1), 22–27.
- 21. Pakurár, Miklós, Sándor Kovács, Jó Popp, and András Vántus. (2015). "Innovative Solutions in Traceability to Improve the Competitiveness of a Local Fruit and Vegetable Retailing System" *Amfiteatru Economic* 17, (39) (05): 676-691.
- 22. Park, B., & Reynolds, L. (2012). Local and Sustainable Food Procurement. Public Good Initiative.
- 23. Public Good Initiative. (2012) Local and Sustainable Food Procurement: A comparative analysis of the development of local and sustainable food procurement in Canadian universities.

 http://portal.publicpolicy.utoronto.ca/en/sr/PersonalProfiles/LaytonReynolds/Documents/Public-Good-Initiative-Local%20and%20Sustainable%20Food%20Procurement-A%20comparative%20analysis.pdf
- 24. Sonnino, Roberta. (2009). Quality food, public procurement, and sustainable development: the school meal revolution in Rome. *Environment and Planning A*, (41): 425-440
- 25. Sonnino, R. and T. Marsden. (2006). Beyond the Divide: Rethinking Relationships between Alternative and Conventional Food Networks in Europe. *Journal of Economic Geography* 6, no. 2: 181-199.
- 26. Sonnino, R. and Morgan, K.J. (2005) School meals in Rome the quality revolution. In Double Dividend? Promoting Good Nutrition and Sustainable Consumption Through School Meals (ed. by P. Melchett & J. Collins), pp. 42–47. Soil Association, Bristol.
- 27. Stahlbrand, Lori. (2017). "GOING THE DISTANCE SO OUR FOOD DOESN'T HAVE TO": CASE STUDIES OF CREATIVE PUBLIC PROCUREMENT AT CANADIAN AND UK UNIVERSITIES" (2017). Theses and Dissertations (Comprehensive). 1922. http://scholars.wlu.ca/etd/1922
- 28. Sumner, Jennifer. (2011). Serving Social Justice: The Role of the Commons in Sustainable Food Systems. *Studies in Social Justice* 5, no. 1: 63-75.
- Sustain Ontario. (2015). <u>Local Food Procurement Toolkit</u>. https://sustainontario.com/custom/uploads/2015/12/Toolkit_Final25-11.pdf?utm source=SOsite&utm medium=blog&utm campaign=procurement%20toolkit
- 30. Sustain Ontario. (2015). The Law Leaves Room for Local Food.

Innovative Financing for Sustainable Food Systems

- 31. Best, Linda. Phone Interview. July 24, 2017.
- 32. The Big Carrot. 2017. "Nature's Finest Fund." https://thebigcarrot.ca/about-us/natures-finest-fund/
- 33. Brown, L. A. 2015. "Financing, grants, loans, programs, services and organic farmers." *Cariporter Organic Store*. http://www.cariporterstore.biz/blog/financing-grants-loans-programs-services-and-organic-farmers/
- 34. Canada Business Ontario. 2016. "Grants, Subsidies, and Contributing Agriculture." http://www.cbo-eco.ca/en/index.cfm/financing/government-loans-and-grants/grants-subsidies-and-contributions-agriculture/
- 35. Cocciarelli, S., Suput, D., Boshara, R. 2010. "Financing Farming in the U.S.: Opportunities to Improve the financial and business environment for small and midsized farms through strategic financing." http://foodsystems.msu.edu/uploads/files/ffus-working-sessions.pdf

- 36. Dorosh, M. 2014. "Overgrown Farm Credit Giant." Financial Post.
- 37. http://business.financialpost.com/opinion/overgrown-farm-credit-giant
- 38. Dunn, Burgundy. 2013. "Innovative Financing for Food and Farm: Tools from Other Places as a Guide for Strengthening the Local Food Financing System in Ontario." Sustain Ontario and the Canadian Environmental Law Association.
- 39. Falconer, K. 2016. "AreaOne Farms harvest growing institutional demand for farmland." PE Hub Network. https://www.pehub.com/canada/2016/12/areaone-farms-harvests-growing-institutional-demand-for-farmland-assets/
- 40. Ontario Government. 2016. "Ontario's Social Enterprise Strategy." https://www.ontario.ca/page/ontarios-social-enterprise-strategy-2016-2021
- 41. Ontario Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs. 2015. "Introduction to Sustainable Agriculture." http://www.omafra.gov.on.ca/english/busdev/facts/15-023.htm
- 42. Learmonth, P. 2010. "Accessing Land for Farming in Ontario: A guidebook for farm seekers and farmland owners." FarmStart. http://www.farmstart.ca/wp-content/uploads/Accessing-Land-for-Farming-in-ON-Guidebook-REV4.pdf
- 43. MacRae, Roderick. 1991. "Strategies to overcome institutional barriers to the transition from conventional to sustainable agriculture in Canada: the role of government, research institutions and agribusiness." McGill Library: Montreal.
- 44. National Council of State Agricultural Finance Programs. 2013-2017. "Aggie Bond Beginning Farmer Loans Program." http://www.stateagfinance.org/types-of-state-ag-loan-programs
- 45. Post, J. 2016. "Beyond the Bank Loan: 6 Alternative Financing Methods for Startups." http://www.businessnewsdaily.com/1733-small-business-financing-options-.html
- 46. Pons, E. and Long, M.A. 2012. "Promoting Sustainable Food Systems Through Impact Investing." Spring Creek Foundation.
 - http://www.thespringcreekfoundation.org/images/download/tsf_Promoting_Sustainable_Food_Systems_121 2.pdf
- 47. Purpose Capital. 2016. "Growing a New Economy: Meet Impak Finance." http://purposecap.com/meet-impak-finance/
- 48. RBC Capital Markets. 2014. "Green projects: fifty shades of green." Royal Bank of Canada. http://www.rbc.com/community-sustainability/_assets-custom/pdf/Green-Bonds-Fifty-Shades-of-Green.pdf
- 49. Schatz, R. 2015. "Why Foodies and Farmers are Flocking to a Crowdfunding Site Called Barnraiser." Forbes. https://www.forbes.com/sites/robindschatz/2016/02/13/crowdfunding-site-barnraiser-weaves-a-growing-tapestry-of-stories-from-the-good-food-community/#2982c94b1c7d
- 50. Slow Food. 2013. "Slow Food's Contribution to the Debate on the Sustainability of the Food System." https://www.slowfood.com/sloweurope/wp-content/uploads/ING-food-sust.pdf
- 51. Shore, Randy. 2017. "Vancouver Startup Crowdfunding Local Ethical Meat". Vancouver Sun.
- 52. http://vancouversun.com/news/local-news/vancouver-startup-crowdfunding-local-ethical-meat
- 53. Svedova, J., Cuyegkeng, A., Tansey, J. 2014. "Demystifying Impact Investing." ISIS Research Centre: University of British Columbia.
- 54. Tides Canada. 2014. "Sustainable Food Systems: A landscape assessment for Canadian Philanthropy. http://tidescanada.org/wp-content/uploads/2014/07/SustainableFoodSystems_LandscapeAssessment.pdf
- 55. Vander Stichele, M. 2015. "How financialization affects dynamics of the food supply chain." *Canadian Food Studies* (2) 2, pp: 258-266.
- 56. Young, Christie. 2015. "Food, farms, fish and finance: practical impact investment strategies to seed and sustain local food systems." The JW McConnell Family Foundation.

 http://mcconnellfoundation.ca/assets/PDFs/Food%20Farms%20Fish%20And%20Finance WEB FINAL.pdf

Community Growing Network

Strategies for Leveraging Community Resources

57. Aptekar, S. (2015). "Visions of Public Space: reproducing and Resisting Social Hierarchies in a Community Garden". Sociological Forum 30(10): 209-227

- 58. Bradley, K., and Herrera, H. (2016). "Decolonizing Food Justice: Naming, Resisting, and Researching Colonizing Forces in the Movement". Antipode, 48: 97–114.
- 59. Byrne, J. (2012). "When green is white: The cultural politics of race, nature and social exclusion in a Los Angeles urban national park". *Geoforum* 43(3): 595–611.
- 60. Cadieux K.V., Slocum, R. (2015). "What does it mean to do food justice?". Journal of Political Ecology 22: 1–26
- 61. Cohen, N and Reynolds, K. (2015). "Resource needs for a socially just and sustainable urban agriculture system: Lessons from New York City". Renewable Agriculture and Food Systems 30(1): 103-114
- 62. Eizenberg, E. (2012). "Actually existing commons: three moments of space of community gardens in New York City". *Antipode*, 44(3), 764–782
- 63. Ellis, R. (2010). Sowing the seeds of democracy: community gardening in Parkdale, Toronto. Master's thesis, University of Western Ontario
- 64. Farmers on 57th. < http://www.farmerson57th.ca>, accessed August 14, 2017
- 65. Galt, R.E., Gray, L.C., and Hurley, P. (2014). "Subversive and interstitial food spaces: transforming selves, societies, and society-environment relations through urban agriculture and foraging". *Local Environment*. 19(2), p. 133-146.
- 66. Greenest City. < http://greenestcity.ca>, accessed August 15, 2017
- 67. Holt-Giménez, E. and Y. Wang (2012). "Reform or transformation? The pivotal role of food justice in the U.S. food movement". *Race/Ethnicity: Multidisciplinary Global Contexts*, *5*(1), 83-102.
- 68. La Finca del Sur < http://bronxfarmers.blogspot.ca; accessed July 31, 2017
- 69. La Finca del Sur, Facebook group < https://www.facebook.com/lafincadelsur/>. Accessed August 20, 2017
- 70. Lawson, L. J. (2005). *City Bountiful: A Century of Community Gardening in America*. Berkeley: University of California Press.
- 71. Levkoe, C. (2011). Towards a transformative food politics. Local Environment 16(7): 687–705
- 72. Levkoe, C.Z. (2006). Learning democracy through food justice movements. *Agriculture and Human Values* 23(1): 89–98.
- 73. Lowcock, A. (2013). *Inclusive Community Gardens: planning for inclusive spaces and welcoming spaces in the City of Vancouver*. City of Vancouver report.
- 74. McIvor, D. and Hale, J. (2015). "Urban Agriculture and the Prospects for Deep Democracy." *Agriculture and Human Values* 32 (4): 727-741
- 75. Miedema, J.M., Desjardins, E., and Marshall K. (2013). 'Not Just a Passing Fancy': How community gardns contribute to healty and inclusive neighbourhoods. Waterloo Region Public Health.

 http://chd.region.waterloo.on.ca/en/researchResourcesPublications/resources/Community Gardening Storytelling Project.pdf
- 76. Parkdale Neighbourhood Land Trust http://www.pnlt.ca/milkywaygarden/ accessed August 15, 2017
- 77. Passidomo, C. (2014). "Whose right to (farm) the city? Race and food justice activism in post-Katrina New Orleans". *Agriculture and Human Values* 31(3): 385-396
- 78. Pudup, M. (2008). It takes a garden: cultivating citizen-subjects in organized garden projects. Geoforum, 39(3),
- 79. San Francisco Urban Agricultural Alliance. < http://www.sfuaa.org/position-on-gentrification.html, Accessed August 19, 2017
- 80. Staeheli, L. and Mitchell, D. (2008). The People's Property? Power, politics, and the public. Routledge
- 81. Staeheli, L.A., Mitchell, D., and Gibson, K. (2002). "Conflicting rights to the city in New York's community gardens". GeoJournal 58(2-3): 197-205
- 82. Thomas, A. (2017), "These New York Gardeners Are Fighting the System by Growing Food".
- 83. Fader. http://www.thefader.com/2017/04/17/bronx-gardeners-empower-communities. Accessed April 20, 2017.
- 84. Tornaghi, C. (2017). "Urban Agriculture in the Food- Disabling City: (Re)defining Urban Food
- 85. Justice, Reimagining a Politics of Empowerment". Antipode. 49(3) p. 781-801
- 86. Turner, B., (2011). "Embodied connections: sustainability, food systems and community gardens". *Local Environment*, 16(6), 509–522.

Engaging Communities Through Community Gardening

- 87. A Rocha. No date. Community Gardening Resources. Accessed August 11, 2017 from https://arocha.ca/get-involved/green-living-resources/#gardeningtips
- 88. AASHE (Association for the Advancement of Sustainability in Higher Education). 2010. Campus Gardens: A Growing Trend in Campus Sustainability. Accessed August 11, 2017 from http://www.aashe.org/campus-gardens-growing-trend-campus-sustainability/
- 89. ACGA (American Community Gardening Association). No date. Garden Insurance. Accessed August 9, 2017 from https://communitygarden.org/programs/garden-insurance/
- 90. AODA (Accessibility for Ontarians with Disabilities Act). 2016 (date of last amendment). Accessed August 10, 2017 from https://www.ontario.ca/laws/statute/05a11
- 91. Certified Organic Associations of British Columbia. No date. Soil and Water Testing Services Available to Canadian Farmers. Accessed August 10, 2017 from http://www.certifiedorganic.bc.ca/rcbtoa/services/soiltesting-services.html
- 92. City Farmer Society. No date. City Farmer News. Accessed August 11, 2017 from http://www.cityfarmer.info/
- 93. City of Victoria. 2016. Community Gardens Policy. Accessed August 11, 2017 from http://www.victoria.ca/assets/Community/Growing~in~the~City/Community%20Gardens%20Policy Revised% https://www.victoria.ca/assets/Community/Growing~in~the~City/Community%20Gardens%20Policy Revised% https://www.victoria.ca/assets/Community/Growing~in~the~City/Community%20Gardens%20Policy Revised% <a href="https://www.victoria.ca/assets/community/Growing~in~the~City/Community%20Gardens%20Policy Revised% https://www.victoria.ca/assets/community/Growing~in~the~City/Community%20Gardens%20Policy Revised% <a href="https://www.victoria.ca/assets/community/Growing~in~the~City/Community/
- 94. City of Victoria. No date. Boulevard Gardening Guidelines. Accessed August 11, 2017 from http://www.victoria.ca/assets/Departments/Parks~Rec~Culture/Parks/Documents/Boulevard%20Gardening%20Guidelines e.pdf
- 95. CGRN (Community Garden Resource Network). No date. Insuring. Calgary Horticultural Society. Accessed August 9, 2017 from http://www.calhort.org/community-gardens/start-a-garden/obtain-a-site/insuring.aspx
- 96. Community Garden Council in the Waterloo Region. No date. Municipal Garden Policies. Accessed August 11, 2017 from http://community-gardens.ca/content/municipal-garden-policies
- 97. Danyluk, M. 2009. Cultivating Potential: Planning for Urban Agriculture in Toronto's Hydro Corridors. Accessed August 11, 2017 from http://tfpc.to/wordpress/wp-content/uploads/2013/01/2008-09-Cultivating-Potential-Urb-Agri-in-Hydro-Corridors-DANYLUK.pdf
- 98. Dillon Consulting. 2013. Community Garden Policy Scan. Prepared for the Halton Food Council. Accessed August 10, 2017 from http://sirepub.halton.ca/councildocs/pm/16/May%2020%202014%20Health%20and%20Social%20Services%20MO1214%20%20Holland%20Food%20Council%20Progress%2020122014%20%20MO1214%20attachment%202pdf%20173641.pdf
- 99. Donation of Food Act. 1994. Accessed August 10, 2017 from https://www.ontario.ca/laws/statute/94d19
- 100.EPA (Environmental Protection Act). 2017 (date of last amendment). Accessed August 10, 2017 from https://www.ontario.ca/laws/statute/90e19
- 101. Farmers' Markets Ontario. No date. Benefits of Joining. Accessed September 5, 2017 from http://farmersmarketsontario.com/benefits-of-joining/
- 102.Food Banks Canada. No date. Community Gardens Toolkit. Accessed August 11, 2017 from https://www.foodbankscanada.ca/getmedia/de53293a-2fc3-4e42-82e6-60da8fcb2558/Community-Gardens-Toolkit-v2.pdf.aspx
- 103. Handley, V., Koudieh, D., Marshall, A., Mirza, F., and Ozzoude C. 2017. *Growing Green: Developing an Institutional Garden for The Ottawa Hospital*. Accessed October 16, 2017 from http://projectsoil.ca/hstp-project-reports/growing-green/
- 104.HSC (Housing Services Corporation). 2015. The Community Garden Toolkit: Who It's For and How to Use It.

 Prepared by Emily Martyn. Accessed October 16 from http://tcgn.ca/wp-content/uploads/2015/08/HSC-communityGardenToolkit-Inside.compressed.pdf
- 105. Just Food. 2014. Community gardening on private land and City of Ottawa land. Accessed August 11, 2017 from http://justfood.ca/ottawa-food-action-plan/community-gardening-on-private-land-city-of-ottawa-land/
- 106.Larson, S. 2016. *Land Trust Network Launces in Boston*. In Next City. Accessed August 11, 2017 from https://nextcity.org/daily/entry/boston-land-trust-network-launches
- 107.LifeCycles Project. No date. *Growing Schools*. Accessed August 9, 2017 from http://lifecyclesproject.ca/our-projects/growing-schools/

- 108.LifeCycles Project. 2005. *Creating an outdoor classroom. School Food Garden Implementation Manual.* Victoria, BC: GroundWorks. Accessed August 9, 2017 from http://lifecyclesproject.ca/app/uploads/2015/08/Creating-an-Outdoor-Classroom-2013.pdf
- 109.MAH (Ontario Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing). 2016. *The Smart Growth for Our Communities Act, 2015 (Bill 73)*. Accessed August 9, 2017 from http://www.mah.gov.on.ca/Page11014.aspx
- 110.MAH (Ontario Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing). 2015. *Citizen's' Guides to Land-use Planning*. Accessed August 9, 2017 from http://www.mah.gov.on.ca/Page338.aspx
- 111.MAH (Ontario Ministry of Municipal Affairs and Housing). 2008. *Community Improvement Planning Handbook 2008*. Accessed August 9, 2017 from http://www.mah.gov.on.ca/Page1297.aspx
- 112. Making it Happen. No Date. *School Food Gardens Challenges, barriers and how to overcome them.* Accessed August 9, 2017 from http://healthyeatingatschool.ca/take-action/school-food-gardenschallenges-barriers-and-how-to-overcome-them
- 113.Meal Exchange. 2012. *Campus Garden Network.* Accessed October 16, 2017 from http://mealexchange.com/what-we-do/campus-food-systems-project.html
- 114.OMAFRA (Ontario Ministry of Agriculture, Food, and Rural Affairs). 2010. *The Online Gardener's Handbook*. Accessed August 10, 2017 from http://www.omafra.gov.on.ca/english/crops/gardbk/ghtoc.html
- 115.Ontario. 2017a. *Species at risk by area*. Accessed August 10, 2017 from https://www.ontario.ca/environment-and-energy/species-risk-area
- 116.Ontario. 2017b. *Odours in our environment*. Accessed August 10, 2017 from https://www.ontario.ca/page/odours-our-environment
- 117.Ontario. 2017c. Strategy for a Waste-Free Ontario: Building a Circular Economy. Accessed September 5, 2017 from https://files.ontario.ca/finalstrategywastefreeont_eng_aoda1_final-s.pdf
- 118.Pesticides Act. 2017 (date of last amendment). Accessed August 10, 2017 from https://www.ontario.ca/laws/statute/90p11
- 119.PNLT (Parkdale Neighbourhood Land Trust). No Date a. *About*. Accessed August 11, 2017 from http://www.pnlt.ca/about/
- 120.PNLT (Parkdale Neighbourhood Land Trust). No Date b. *Milky Way Garden*. Accessed August 11, 2017 from http://www.pnlt.ca/milkywaygarden/
- 121.Real Food Challenge. 2010. *The Garden Guide*. Accessed August 11, 2017 from http://mealexchange.com/images/chapteresourcepdfs/RFC%20Garden%20Guide%20Revised%202010.pdf
- 122.Seebruch, N. 2017, June 9. Big Plans for New Venue on Library Roof. In *Cornwall Seaway News*. Accessed October 16, 2017 from http://www.cornwallseawaynews.com/news/local/2017/6/9/big-plans-for-new-venue-on-library-roof.html
- 123. Sherman, J. 2015. *Pilot Project Could Turn Hydro Corridors into Urban Farms*. In Torontoist. Accessed August 11, 2017 from http://torontoist.com/2015/07/pilot-project-could-turn-hydro-corridors-into-urban-farms/
- 124.TFPC (Toronto Food Policy Council). 2012. growTO: An urban agriculture Action Plan for Toronto. Accessed August 10, 2017 from http://www.toronto.ca/legdocs/mmis/2012/pe/bgrd/backgroundfile-51558.pdf
- 125.TMG (Toronto Master Gardeners). 2015. Pollinator Garden: A Toronto Master Gardeners Guide. Accessed August 10, 2017 from http://www.torontomastergardeners.ca/gardeningguides/pollinator-garden-a-torontomaster-gardeners-guide/
- 126. Toronto Medical Officer of Health. 2008. Reducing Electromagnetic Field Exposure from Hydro Corridors. Staff Report. Accessed August 11, 2017 from
 - https://www1.toronto.ca/city of toronto/toronto public health/healthy public policy/hphe/files/pdf/emf b oh report.pdf
- 127. Toronto Public Health. 2017. From the Ground Up: Guide for Soil Testing in Urban Gardens. Accessed August 11, 2017 from
 - https://www1.toronto.ca/City%20Of%20Toronto/Toronto%20Public%20Health/Healthy%20Public%20Policy/Environmental%20Pollutants/Files/PDF/guide_for_soil_testing_2013.pdf
- 128. Toronto Urban Growers. 2016. *Indicators for Urban Agriculture in Toronto: A Scoping Analysis.* Prepared by Rhonda Teitel-Payne, James Kuhns, and Joe Nasr. Accessed October 16, 2017 from http://torontourbangrowers.org/img/upload/Indicators AODA.pdf

129.US-EPA (United States Environmental Protection Agency). 2011. Reusing potentially contaminated landscapes: Growing gardens in urban soil. Accessed August 10, 2017 from https://www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/2014-03/documents/urban_gardening_fina_fact_sheet.pdf

Farming and Farmland Network

Farmland Preservation

- 130.AAFC. (2016). Calgary Statement: Towards the next policy framework. Retrieved from <a href="http://www.agr.gc.ca/eng/about-us/public-opinion-and-consultations/consulting-on-the-next-agricultural-policy-framework/calgary-statement-towards-the-next-policy-framework/?id=1468864509649
- 131. Brownlee, Mark. (2013) "Walton Preparing Development Plans for Massive Land Holdings in Southwest Ottawa." Ottawa Business Journal, March 22
- 132. Bunce, M. (1998). Thirty years of farmland preservation in North America: Discourses and ideologies of a movement. *Journal of Rural Studies*, 14 (2), 233–247.
- 133. Caldwell W., Hilts S., & Wilton B. (2007). Farmland preservation in Ontario. In W. Caldwell, S. Hilts, B Wilton (eds.) Farmland preservation: Land for future generations. Guelph: Farmland Preservation Research Project Centre for Land and Water Stewardship, pp. 88-113.
- 134. Carter-Whitney, M. (2010). Ontario's Greenbelt in an International Context. Retrieved from http://www.greenbelt.ca/ontario s greenbelt in an international context2010
- 135.CBC News. (2017). City files re-zoning application for Ottawa Hospital Civic campus. Retrieved from http://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/ottawa/city-rezoning-application-ottawa-hospital-civic-1.4253026
- 136.City of Anne Arbor Michigan. (n.d.). Purchase of Development Rights. Retrieved from https://www.a2gov.org:443/greenbelt/Pages/PurchaseofDevelopmentRights.aspx
- 137.City of Ottawa. (2017). Land Evaluation and Area Review (LEAR). Retrieved, from http://ottawa.ca/en/city-hall/planning-and-development/official-plan-and-master-plans/land-evaluation-and-area-review-lear
- 138. Conell, D. J., Bryant, C. R., Caldwell, W. J., Churchyard, A., Cameron, G., Johnston, T., ... Marois, C. (2016). Food Sovereignty and Agricultural Land Use Planning: The Need To Integrate Public Priorities Across Jurisdictions. Journal of Agriculture, Food Systems, and Community Development, 3(4), 117–124.
- 139. Deloitte. (2013). Best practices in local food: A guide for municipalities (A report by Deloitte for The Ontario Municipal Knowledge Network (OMKN)).
- 140. Desmarais, A. A., Qualman, D., Magnan, A., & Wiebe, N. (2015). Land grabbing and land concentration: Mapping changing patterns of farmland ownership in three rural municipalities in Saskatchewan, Canada. *Canadian Food Studies*, *2* (1), 16.
- 141. Gordon, D. (2001). Weaving a modern plan for Canada's capital: Jacques Greber and the 1950 plan for the National Capital Region. *Urban History Review; Toronto*, 29 (2), 43.
- 142.Government of Ontario. (2017). Bill 139, Building Better Communities and Conserving Watersheds Act, 2017. Retrieved from http://www.ontla.on.ca/web/bills/bills_detail.do?locale=en&BillID=4936
- 143. Holtslander, C. (2015). Losing our grip: How corporate farmland buy-up, rising farm debt, and agribusiness financing of inputs threaten family farms. National Farmers Union.
- 144. Martin, Sarah J. (2015). "The State of Time in This Financial Moment: Financialization in the Food System—Synthesis Paper." *Canadian Food Studies* 2(2): 287–93.
- 145.Ministry of Municipal Affairs. (2017). Places to Grow Growth Plan for the Greater Golden Horseshoe. From http://www.placestogrow.ca/index.php?option=com content&task=view&id=9&Itemid=104&lang=eng
- 146.NFU. (2012). Farmers, the food chain and agriculture policies in Canada in relation to the right to food .

 Retrieved from http://www.nfu.ca/story/farmers-food-chain-and-agriculture-policies-canada-relation-right-food.
- 147.OMAFRA. (2011). Conservation Easements for Agricultural Land Use. Retrieved from http://www.omafra.gov.on.ca/english/busdev/facts/11-027.htm
- 148.OMAFRA. (2017). *Agricultural Systems in Ontario's Greater Golden Horseshoe* . Retrieved from http://www.omafra.gov.on.ca/english/landuse/improc.pdf
- 149.OMAFRA. (2017). Minimum Distance Separation for Building or Renovating a Farm Structure. Retrieved from http://www.omafra.gov.on.ca/english/nm/buildev/mds.htm

- 150.OMAFRA. (2017). Statistical Summary of Ontario Agriculture.
- 151.Ontario Federation of Agriculture. (2015). Ontario Federation of Agriculture Farmland Preservation Recommendations.
- 152.Ontario Ministry of Agriculture, Food and Rural Affairs. (2017). Farms Forever Proposed Discussion Paper Outline. From http://www.omafra.gov.on.ca/english/policy/farmsforever.htm
- 153. Parks Canada. (2017). Rouge National Urban Park. Retrieved from https://www.pc.gc.ca/en/pn-np/on/rouge
- 154.Pickering News Advertiser. (2017). Transport Canada extends farming leases on Pickering lands designated for a potential airport. Retrieved from https://www.durhamregion.com/news-story/7320935-transport-canada-extends-farming-leases-on-pickering-lands-designated-for-apotential-airport/
- 155. Smythe, E. A. (2015). Local food, farmland, and urban development: A case of land grabbing North American style. *Canadian Food Studies 2* (1), 48.
- 156. Statistics Canada. (2017). "Census Profile, 2016 Census Toronto, City [Census Subdivision], Ontario and Ontario [Province]."
- 157. Statistics Canada. (2017). A portrait of a 21st century agricultural operation.
- 158.Troughton, M. (2007). Canadian farmland a fluctuating commodity. In W. Caldwell, S. Hilts, B Wilton (eds.) Farmland preservation: Land for future generations. Guelph: Farmland Preservation Research Project Centre for Land and Water Stewardship, pp. 33-54.
- 159. Watkins, M., Hilts, S., & Brockie, E. (2003). Protecting Southern Ontario's Farmland: Challenges and Opportunities (Farmland Preservation Research Project Discussion Paper Series 2003). A Centre For Land and Water Stewardship Publication University of Guelph.
- 160. Yearwood-Lee, E. (2008). History of the agricultural land reserve. Legislative Library of British Columbia.

New and Young Farmers

- 161.Caldwell, W. and Epp, S. (2017). *Measuring Farmland Conversion in Southern Ontario*. Retrieved from: www.waynecaldwell.ca
- 162. Chiswell, H. M. (2014). The importance of next generation farmers: a conceptual framework to bring the potential successor into focus. *Geography Compass*, 8(5), 300-312.
- 163.Cush, P., & Macken-Walsh, Á. (2016). The Potential for Joint Farming Ventures in Irish Agriculture: A Sociological Review. *European Countryside*, 8(1), 33-48.
- 164. Duesberg, S., Bogue, P., & Renwick, A. (2017). Retirement farming or sustainable growth—land transfer choices for farmers without a successor. *Land Use Policy*, *61*, 526-535.
- 165. Ekers, M. & Levkoe, C.Z. (2016). Ecological farming with interns and volunteers in Ontario. *Ecological Farmers Association of Ontario Newsletter*.
- 166.Ekers, M., Levkoe, C. Z., Walker, S., & Dale, B. (2016). Will work for food: agricultural interns, apprentices, volunteers, and the agrarian question. *Agriculture and Human Values*, *33*(3), 705-720.
- 167. Errington, A. (2002). Handing over the reins: A comparative study of intergenerational farm transfers in England, France and Canada. *Zaragoza (Spain)*, 28, 31.
- 168.European Commission. (2017). *Press Release*. Retrieved from: http://europa.eu/rapid/press-release IP-94-3 en.htm
- 169. Farm Credit Canada. (2016). 2016 FCC Farmland Values Report. Retrieved from: https://www.fcc-fac.ca/fcc/about-fcc/corporate-profile/reports/farmlandvalues/farmland-values-report-2016.pdf.
- 170. FarmON Alliance. (2012). Learning to Become a Farmer: Findings from a FarmON Alliance Survey of New Farmers in Ontario.
- 171. Gasson, R., & Errington, A. J. (1993). The farm family business. Cab International.
- 172. Goulet, F. (2013). Narratives of experience and production of knowledge within farmers' groups. *Journal of rural studies*, *32*, 439-447.
- 173. Greenbelt Fund (2017). *Greenbelt Fund Grants Create Systemic Change in Ontario's Food System*. Retrieved from: http://www.greenbeltfund.ca/grants
- 174.Isaac, M., Erickson, B., Quashie-Sam, S., & Timmer, V. (2007). Transfer of knowledge on agroforestry management practices: the structure of farmer advice networks. *Ecology and Society*, *12*(2).
- 175. Kilpatrick, S., & Johns, S. (2003). How farmers learn: different approaches to change. *The Journal of agricultural education and extension*, *9*(4), 151-164.

- 176.Lobley, M. and Baker, J. (2012). Succession and retirement in family farm businesses. In: Lobley, M., Baker, J. and Whitehead, I.(eds.) *Keeping it in the family: international perspectives on succession and retirement on family farms*. Aldershot: Ashgate.
- 177.Lobley, M., Baker, J. R., & Whitehead, I. (2016). Farm succession and retirement: some international comparisons. *Journal of Agriculture, Food Systems, and Community Development*, 1(1), 49-64.
- 178. Moschitz, H., Roep, D., Brunori, G., & Tisenkopfs, T. (2015). Learning and innovation networks for sustainable agriculture: processes of co-evolution, joint reflection and facilitation.
- 179. National Young Farmers Coalition. (2015). Farming is Public Service: A Case to add Farmers to the Public Service Loan Forgiveness Program. Retrieved from: http://www.youngfarmers.org/reports/FIPSReport.pdf
- 180. Niewolny, K. L., & Lillard, P. T. (2016). Expanding the boundaries of beginning farmer training and program development: A review of contemporary initiatives to cultivate a new generation of American farmers. *Journal of Agriculture, Food Systems, and Community Development*, 1(1), 65-88.
- 181.OMAFRA. (2017). Census. Retrieved from: http://www.omafra.gov.on.ca/english/stats/census/index.html.
- 182.OMAFRA. (2008). *Preparing Business Plans*. Retrieved from: http://www.omafra.gov.on.ca/english/busdev/facts/08-051.htm
- 183.RAIN. (2017). SNAPP Sustainable New Agri-Food Products & Productivity Program. Retrieved from: http://rainalgoma.ca/snapp/.
- 184. Statistics Canada. (2017a). 2016 Census of Agriculture. *The Daily*. Retrieved from: http://www.statcan.gc.ca/daily-quotidien/170510/dq170510a-eng.htm.
- 186.Statistics Canada. (2015). A Profile of Self-employment in Rural and Small Town Canada: Is there an Impending Retirement of Self-employed Business Operators? Table 2: Number and percent self-employed in rural and small town Canada, 2010. Retrieved from: http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/21-006-x/2012001/tbl/tbl02-eng.htm.
- 187.Zimmer, Y. (2014). Leasing and purchasing arable land legal rules, profitability and investor's view. *Agri Benchmark*. Retrieved from: http://www.agribenchmark.org/fileadmin/Dateiablage/B-Cash-Crop/Working-Paper/cc-1406-land-markets-YZ.pdf

Municipal Food Policy Research Network

Food Policy Councils: Governance, Success, Challenges

- 188. Ashley, C., & Carney, D. (1999). *Sustainable livelihoods: Lessons from early experience* (Vol. 7, No. 1). London: Department for International Development.
- 189.Bebbington, A. (1999). Capitals and capabilities: a framework for analyzing peasant viability, rural livelihoods and poverty. *World development*, *27*(12), 2021-2044.
- 190.Blaikie, P., Cannon, T., Davis, I., & Wisner, B. (2014). At risk: natural hazards, people's vulnerability and disasters. Routledge.
- 191.Borron, S. M. (2003). Food policy councils: Practice and possibility. *Congressional Hunger Center Hunger-Free Community Report. Eugene, Oregon*.
- 192. Carney, D. (1999). Social capital. Key sheets for sustainable livelihoods. Policy planning and implementation. *Department for International Development/ODI, London*.
- 193. Chambers, R. & G. Conway (1992), Sustainable rural livelihoods: practical concepts for the 21st century. University of Sussex, Institute of Development Studies, Discussion Paper 296. (Brighton: IDS)
- 194. Chambers, R. (1995). Poverty and livelihoods: whose reality counts?. *Environment and urbanization*, 7(1), 173-204.
- 195. Coplen, A. K., & Cuneo, M. (2015). Dissolved: Lessons learned from the Portland Multnomah Food Policy Council. *Journal of Agriculture, Food Systems, and Community Development*, *5*(2), 91-107.
- 196. Dahlberg, A. (1994) "Food Policy Councils: The Experience of Five Cities and One County." Department of Political Science, Western Michigan University, Kalamazoo, MI (1994).

- 197.El Sawy, O. A., Gomes, G. M., & Gonzalez, M. V. (1986). Preserving institutional memory: The management of history as an organizational resource. In *Academy of Management Proceedings* (Vol. 1986, No. 1, pp. 118-122). Academy of Management.
- 198. Farrington, J. (2001). Sustainable livelihoods, rights and the new architecture of aid. *Natural Resource Perspectives*. London: Overseas Development Institute.
- 199. Food Secure Canada (n.d) More Voices at the Table: The Case for a National Food Policy Council for Canada. Retrieved from:
 - https://foodsecurecanada.org/sites/foodsecurecanada.org/files/files/the case for a national food policy council for canada.pdf
- 200. Fox, C. (2010). Food policy councils: innovations in democratic governance for a sustainable and equitable food system. *Los Angeles Food Policy Task Force*.
- 201. Franklin, J. L., & Thrasher, J. H. (1976). An introduction to program evaluation. New York: Wiley.
- 202. Halliday, M., & Hawkes, C. (2017) What Makes Urban Food Policy Happen. *International Panel of Experts on Food Systems*. Retrieved from: http://www.ipes-food.org/images/Reports/Cities_full.pdf
- 203. Harper, A., Shattuck, A., Holt-Giménez, E., Alkon, A., & Lambrick, F. (2009). Food policy councils: Lessons learned. *Institute for food and development policy*, 1-63.
- 204.Ingram, J. (2011). A food systems approach to researching food security and its interactions with global environmental change. *Food Security*, 3(4), 417-431.
- 205.Levkoe, C. Z. (2014). The food movement in Canada: A social movement network perspective. *Journal of Peasant Studies*, *41*(3), 385-403.
- 206. MacRae, R. & Kendal, D. (2013). "Municipal Food Policy Entrepreneurs: A Preliminary Analysis of how Canadian Cities and Regional Districts are involved in Food System Change." *Toronto Food Policy Council, Vancouver Food Policy Council, Canadian Agri-Food Policy Institute*.
- 207. Mah, C. L., Baker, L., Cook, B., & Emanuel, B. (2013). The Toronto Food Policy Council and the Toronto Food Strategy: focusing on food systems and health at the city-region level. *About SCN News*.
- 208. Mooney, P. H., Tanaka, K., & Ciciurkaite, G. (2014). Food Policy Council Movement in North America: A Convergence of Alternative Local Agrifood Interests?. In *Alternative agrifood movements: Patterns of convergence and divergence* (pp. 229-255). Emerald Group Publishing Limited.
- 209. Morse, S., & McNamara, N. (2013). *Sustainable livelihood approach: A critique of theory and practice*. Springer Science & Business Media.
- 210.Palmer, A., & Calancie, L. (2017), Get it Toolgether: Assessing Your Food Council's Ability to Do Policy. *Johns Hopkins Center for a Livable Future*, Bloomberg School of Public Health. Retrieved from: https://jhsph.co1.qualtrics.com/jfe/form/SV 6qYZ6idMhnruiBD
- 211. Patton, M. Q. (2003). Utilization-focused evaluation. In *International handbook of educational evaluation* (pp. 223-242). Springer Netherlands.
- 212. Pothukuchi, K., & Kaufman, J. L. (1999). Placing the food system on the urban agenda: The role of municipal institutions in food systems planning. *Agriculture and Human Values*, *16*(2), 213-224.
- 213. Schiff, R. (2008). The role of food policy councils in developing sustainable food systems. *Journal of Hunger & Environmental Nutrition*, *3*(2-3), 206-228.
- 214. Schiff, R. (2007) "Food policy councils: an examination of organisational structure, process, and contribution to alternative food movements." PhD Thesis, Murdoch University
- 215. Scoones, I. (1998). Sustainable rural livelihoods: A framework for analysis. Brighton, U.K.: *Institute of Development Studies*, University of Sussex.
- 216. Serrat, O. (2009). Social network analysis, Asian Development Bank, Washington, DC.
- 217. Suchman, E. (1968). Evaluative Research: Principles and Practice in Public Service and Social Action Progr. *Russell Sage Foundation*.
- 218. Walker, P., Lewis, J., Lingayah, S., & Sommer, F. (2000). *Prove it!: measuring the effect of neighbourhood renewal on local people.* London: New Economics Foundation.
- 219. Wegener, J., Raine, K. D., & Hanning, R. M. (2012). Insights into the government's role in food system policy making: Improving access to healthy, local food alongside other priorities. *International journal of environmental research and public health*, *9*(11), 4103-4121.

220. Winne, M. (2002) "Food Policy Councils." Presented at *Community Food Security Coalition Conference*. Seattle, WA.

Edible Education Network

Enhancing Local/Regional Collaboration to Support Good Food for Children and Youth

221. Holley, June (2012) Network Weaver Handbook: A Guide to Transformational Networks. Published by Network Weaving Publishing, Athens, Ohio, USA, February 2012. www.networkweaver.com

Food Justice Network

Building understanding and awareness about systemic inequities in our food system

- 222. Allen, Patricia. 2010. "Realizing Justice in Local Food Systems." *Cambridge Journal of Regions, Economy and Society* 3 (2): 295–308.
- 223. Alkon, Alison Hope. 2014. "Food Justice and the Challenge to Neoliberalism." Gastronomica 14 (2): 27–40.
- 224. Basok T, Bélanger D and Rivas E (2013) Reproducing Deportability: Migrant Agricultural Workers in Southwestern Ontario. *Journal of Ethnic and Migration Studies* 40(9): 1394–1413.
- 225.Black Creek Food Justice Network. 2016. "Fighting for Food Justice in the Black Creek Community: Report, Analyses and Steps Forward." Toronto.
- 226.Bradley, K., and H. Herrera. 2015. "Decolonizing Food Justice: Naming, Resisting, and Researching Colonizing Forces in the Movement." Antipode Early View. doi:10.1111/anti.12165
- 227.Cadieux, Kirsten Valentine, and Rachel Slocum. 2015. "What Does It Mean to Do Food Justice?" *Journal of Political Ecology*, 1–26.
- 228.City of Thunder Bay. 2014. "Thunder Bay and Area Food Strategy: Connecting Food and Community." Thunder Bay.
- 229. Coulthard, Glen. 2014. *Red Skin, White Masks: Rejecting the Colonial Politics of Recognition*. Indigenous Americas. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press.
- 230. Dauphin, Nydia. 2015. "Food Justice News from Toronto's City Hall." Food Secure Canada. https://foodsecurecanada.org/resources-news/blogs-discussions/food-justice-news-torontos-city-hall.
- 231.FPP. (2010). First Principles Protocol for Building Cross- Cultural Relationships.
- 232. Food Secure Canada. 2014. "Food Justice." Food Secure Canada.
- 233. Gottlieb, Robert, and Anupama Joshi. 2010. Food Justice. MIT Press.
- 234. Holt Giménez, E., & Shattuck, A. (2011). Food crises, food regimes and food movements: rumblings of reform or tides of transformation?. *The Journal of peasant studies*, *38*(1), 109-144.
- 235. Kepkiewicz, L. & Rotz, S. In press. Toward Anti-Colonial Food Policy in Canada? A Reflection on the People's Food Policy Project. Canadian Food Studies (CFS).
- 236.Levkoe, Charles Z, Melissa Bebee, Sarah Wakefield, Evan Castel, and Claudia Dávila. 2012. "Propagating the Food Movement: Provincial Networks and Social Mobilization in Canada." *Food Secure Canada*.
- 237.McCauley, Darren, Raphael J. Heffron, Hannes Stephan, and Kirsten Jenkins. 2013. *Advancing Energy Justice : The Triumvirate of Tenets. International Energy Law Review.* Sweet & Maxwell.
- 238. Preibisch Kerry (2007) Local Produce, Foreign Labor: Labor Mobility Programs and Global Trade Competitiveness in Canada. *Rural Sociology* 72(3): 418–449.
- 239.Reid-musson E (2017) Grown Close to Home TM: Migrant Farmworker (Im)mobilities and Unfreedom on Canadian Family Farms. Annals of the American Association of Geographers 4452 (February): 1–15.
- 240.Rotz, Sarah. 2017. "They Took Our Beads, It Was a Fair Trade, Get over It': Settler Colonial Logics, Racial Hierarchies and Material Dominance in Canadian Agriculture." *Geoforum* 82. Elsevier: 158–69.
- 241. Sbicca, Joshua. 2012. "Growing Food Justice by Planting an Anti-Oppression Foundation: Opportunities and Obstacles for a Budding Social Movement." *Agriculture and Human Values* 29 (4): 455–66.

- 242. Sbicca, Joshua, and Justin Sean Myers. 2017. "Food Justice Racial Projects: Fighting Racial Neoliberalism from the Bay to the Big Apple." *Environmental Sociology* 3 (1). Routledge: 30–41.
- 243.Slocum, Rachel, and Kirsten Valentine Cadieux. 2015. "Notes on the Practice of Food Justice in the U.S.: Understanding and Confronting Trauma and Inequity." *Journal of Political Ecology* 22 (January 2015): 27–52.
- 244. Slocum, Rachel. 2007. "Whiteness, Space and Alternative Food Practice." Geoforum 38 (3): 520-33.
- 245. Sumner, Jennifer. 2011. "Serving Social Justice: The Role of the Commons in Sustainable Food Systems." *Studies in Social Justice* 5 (1): 63–75.
- 246. Toronto Public Health. 2015. "Toronto Food Strategy: 2015 Update."